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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN 

 
Dear Shareholders, 
 
On behalf of the Directors, I am pleased to present the Annual Report for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 
(FY20) for PayGroup Limited (PayGroup).  
 
In FY20 PayGroup exceeded our target market Annualised Recurring Revenue (ARR) guidance of $17.5M and 
achieved $17.8M of ARR.   
 
PayGroup’s statutory revenue grew from $4.7 million in FY19 to $10.1 million in FY20 and statutory NPAT was 
$(2.3) million. Revenue growth was attributed to organic growth of 12%, a full 12 month operating contribution 
from PayAsia plus a 5-month contribution from Astute One Limited (AstuteOne), acquired on 1 November 2019.  
 
The acquisition of AstuteOne was a significant strategic milestone for PayGroup in FY20. AstuteOne added over 
400 clients to our client base, but also provided a leading SaaS technology and further deepened the Group’s 
presence in Australia and into New Zealand. AstuteOne also brought a strong technology development team, 
further expanding PayGroup’s skills and capabilities.  
 
PayGroup reported positive operating activities cash flow from 2H of FY20 (before one-off transaction costs) and 
is expected to continue to achieve positive operating activities cash flow for FY21. For FY20, PayGroup reported 
operating activities cash flow of $(0.1) million vs $(4.8) million in the prior year.     
 
PayGroup’s Global Channel Partnership Program (GPP) grew from strength to strength in FY20, and we ended 
the financial year with seven global partners (up from four in FY19). Our GPP drove our geographic expansion 
from 25 to 33 markets in FY20 and now represents 10% of PayAsia’s Annualised Recurring Revenues. It is 
expected our GPP will continue to drive our revenue growth in FY21 and further broaden our global footprint as a 
trusted SwaS and SaaS HCM provider.   
 
The Group also launched its Treasury Services offering in FY20 to complement our existing SwaS and SaaS 
offerings, and processed 3,653 transactions per month as at year end, a strong uplift from 155 per month at first 
launch. It is expected that Treasury Services will continue to grow strongly and be a solid contributor to our group 
revenue over the next few years.   
 
Despite the Covid-19 pandemic hitting global economies from Q4 FY20, PayGroup was well placed to execute 
business continuity plans by successfully transitioning all our staff to working from home with minimum disruption 
to our service delivery and Group productivity remaining high.  To date, we have seen minimal financial impact as 
our client base is diversified with no large exposure in the travel, hospitality and retail sector. The accelerated shift 
to online workflow is increasing the opportunities for the trusted outsourced services we provide our clients. 
 
Cost efficiencies and savings continues to be a core focus for our management team. Management have pre-
identified $1.5 million of annualised cost savings and efficiencies for FY21 in the areas of hosting technology, 
revision of outsourced development partners, reduced global travel & smart shoring of technology teams. We 
expect to see these savings beginning to flow through from Q2 FY21. 
 
Subsequent to the reporting period, I’m delighted to share that we have successfully acquired the assets of 
TalentOz in July 2020, increasing our SaaS offering from 16 to 27 modules and creating a comprehensive HCM 
and analytics product offering. This is a significant strategic acquisition, not only because it creates a full HCM 
lifecycle product suite, but also allows PayGroup to rationalise technology costs and bring on talented 
management, development and sales resources across various Asian Pacific regions, particularly Malaysia and 
India.   
 
The outlook for FY21 is strong. PayGroup entered this financial year with a strong implementation backlog across 
SwaS, SaaS and Treasury Services and continues to win new business opportunities. I am confident that the 
group will achieve solid earnings growth in FY21 as we continue to invest in growth opportunities, capitalise on our 
GPP prospects and focus on technology developments due to the growing demands in our cloud based SaaS 
channel.  
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN (continued) 
 
To conclude, I would like to thank Mark Samlal, our Managing Director, and his team for their energy, commitment 
and expertise in delivering another highly successful year. I would also like to acknowledge my fellow Directors for 
their hard work and commitment. 
 
Finally, to our investors, I thank-you for your ongoing support.  
 
We look forward to sharing further performance updates in the year ahead. 
 
 

  
 
 
Mr Ian Basser 
Non-Executive Chairman 
PayGroup Limited 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

 

The Directors are responsible for the strategic direction of the Company, the identification and implementation of 
corporate policies and goals, and monitoring of the business and affairs of the Company on behalf of its 
Shareholders.  

The Company is cognisant of the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (3rd edition) as 
published by ASX Corporate Governance Council and acknowledges that the 8 principles set out therein are 
fundamental to good corporate governance.  

The Board believes that the structure of the Company, its management and business practices provide a basis of 
governance which meets the essential corporate governance principles articulated by ASX in that publication. 

This Corporate Governance Statement sets out the Company’s current compliance with the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council’s Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations (Best 
Practice Recommendations).  

The Company's website http://paygrouplimited.com/index.php/corporate-governance/ contains an Investor 
Section, which details the Company's Corporate Governance Policy. This provides public access to all the 
information relevant to the Company meeting its corporate governance obligations.  

 BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATION COMMENT 

1. Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

1.1 A listed entity should disclose: 

(a) the respective roles and responsibilities of its 
board and management; and 

(b) those matters expressly reserved to the 
board and those delegated to management. 

Role and Responsibilities of the Board of Management 

The Board is responsible for setting the strategic direction of 
the Company and for overseeing and monitoring its 
businesses and affairs.  Directors are accountable to the 
shareholders for the Company’s performance.   

A copy of the Company’s Primary Board Charter, which sets 
out the role and responsibilities of the Board is available on 
the Company’s website in the Corporate Governance 
section.   

1.2 A listed entity should: 

(a) undertake appropriate checks before 
appointing a person, or putting forward to 
security holders a candidate for election, as a 
director; and 

(b) provide security holders with all material 

information in its possession relevant to a 

decision on whether or not to elect or re-elect 

a director. 

Director Appointment and Election 

The Board performs appropriate checks on candidates for 
the Board including checks as to the candidate’s character, 
experience, education, criminal record and bankruptcy 
history.  Where appropriate, external consultants may be 
engaged to assist in searching for candidates and 
undertaking relevant checks. 

The Company will continue to provide information to 
shareholders about Directors seeking re-election or a 
candidate seeking election to the Board, including but not 
limited to their relevant qualifications, experience and skills 
as well as details of any other listed directorships held, 
whether the Director is considered to be independent and a 
recommendation by the Board in respect of the re-election or 
election as a Director. 
 

1.3 A listed entity should have a written agreement 
with each director and senior executive setting out 
the terms of their appointment. 

Each Director enters into a written agreement with the 
Company which outlines the terms of his or her appointment 
including the Director’s duties, obligations, remuneration, 
expected time commitments and notification of the 
Company’s policies.  

Senior executives including the Managing Director and CFO 
have a formal services agreement setting out the terms of 
their employment. 
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 BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATION COMMENT 

1.4 The company secretary of a listed entity should be 
accountable directly to the board, through the 
chair, on all matters to do with the proper 
functioning of the board. 

Company Secretary 

The company secretary is responsible for co-ordination of all 
Board business, including advising on governance matters, 
monitoring policies and procedures, board papers, board 
minutes, communication with regulatory bodies, ASX, ASIC 
and all statutory and other filings.  The company secretary is 
accountable to the Board and all Directors have access to 
the company secretary.  The decision to appoint or remove 
the company secretary is made by the Board. 

1.5 A listed entity should: 

(a) have a diversity policy which includes 
requirements for the board or a relevant 
committee of the board to set measurable 
objectives for achieving gender diversity and 
to assess annually both the objectives and 
the entity’s progress in achieving them; 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it; and 

(c) disclose as at the end of each reporting 
period the measurable objectives for 
achieving gender diversity set by the board 
or a relevant committee of the board in 
accordance with the entity’s diversity policy 
and its progress towards achieving them and 
either: 

(1) the respective proportions of men and 
women on the board, in senior executive 
positions and across the whole 
organisation (including how the entity has 
defined “senior executive” for these 
purposes); or 

(2) if the entity is a “relevant employer” 
under the Workplace Gender Equality 
Act, the entity’s most recent “Gender 
Equality Indicators”, as defined in and 
published under that Act. 

 

 

Diversity Charter 

The Company has established a Diversity Charter, which is 
available on the Company’s website.  The Diversity Charter 
outlines requirements for the Board to develop measurable 
objectives for achieving diversity and annually assess both 
the objectives and the progress in achieving those 
objectives.  The Board has developed objectives regarding 
gender diversity and aims to achieve these objectives over 
the next five years as Director and senior executive positions 
become vacant and appropriately qualified candidates 
become available.   

The respective proportion of women and men in the 
Company as at 31 March 2020 is as follows: 

 Proportion 
of women 

Proportion 
of men 

On the Board             0% 100% 

In senior executive positions 20% 80% 

Across the whole 
organisation 

48% 52% 

For this purpose, the Board defines a "senior executive" as a 
person who makes, or participates in the making of, 
decisions that affect the whole or a substantial part of the 
business or has the capacity to affect significantly the 
Company’s financial standing. This therefore includes all 
senior management and senior executive designated 
positions as well as senior specialised professionals. 

The Company’s diversity objectives and progress towards 
achieving them are disclosed on the Company’s website in 
the Corporate Governance section. 

1.6 A listed entity should: 

(a) have and disclose a process for periodically 
evaluating the performance of the board, its 
committees and individual directors; and 

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, 
whether a performance evaluation was 
undertaken in the reporting period in 
accordance with that process. 

Performance Assessment 

The performance of the Board, Board Committees and 
individual Directors will be reviewed regularly by the Board 
under the direction of the Chairman.  Given the size of the 
Board this review is carried out informally.. The performance 
criteria against which Directors are assessed will be set by 
the Chairman in line with the criteria set out in the 
Company’s Corporate Governance Policy. 

1.7 A listed entity should: 

(a) have and disclose a process for periodically 
evaluating the performance of its senior 
executives; and 

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting period, 

The Board has not adopted a formal process whereby it 
periodically evaluates the performance of the Managing 
Director.  Given the size of the Board, this evaluation is 
carried out informally. 

The Managing Director evaluates the performance of senior 
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 BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATION COMMENT 

whether a performance evaluation was 
undertaken in the reporting period in 
accordance with that process. 

management annually against Key Performance Indicators 
(KPI’s), including measuring actual performance against 
planned performance.   

2. Structure the board to add value 

2.1 The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have a nomination committee which: 

(1) has at least three members, a majority of 
whom are independent directors; and 

(2) is chaired by an independent director, 

and disclose: 

(3) the charter of the committee; 

(4) the members of the committee; and 

(5) as at the end of each reporting period, the 
number of times the committee met 
throughout the period and the individual 
attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have a nomination committee, 
disclose that fact and the processes it 
employs to address board succession issues 
and to ensure that the board has the 
appropriate balance of skills, knowledge, 
experience, independence and diversity to 
enable it to discharge its duties and 
responsibilities effectively. 

The Board has not established a Nominations Committee. 
The Board as a whole carries out the functions of a 
Nominations Committee, and PayGroup believes this is 
appropriate for a Company of its size and business. The 
Board seeks to ensure that it has an appropriate mix of skills 
necessary to fulfil its obligations.   

 

2.2 A listed entity should have and disclose a board 
skills matrix setting out the mix of skills and 
diversity that the board currently has or is looking 
to achieve in its membership. 

Skills Matrix 

The Board regularly evaluates the mix of its skills, 

experience and diversity. The Board considers that 

collectively its directors have a level of skill, knowledge and 

experience that enables the Board to effectively discharge its 

responsibilities and duties (including the activities and 

industries outlined below). The mix of skills the Board is 

seeking to maintain, and to build upon, includes: 

• Human capital management services and software; 

• Finance and Tax (e.g.  financial management capability 

including accounting or related financial management 

qualifications); 

• Research and development; 

• Executive leadership ; 

• Risk management understanding and experience; 

• Commercial acumen; 

• Strategic capabilities. 

Further detail about the skills, experience and expertise held 
by each Director in office is disclosed in the Director’s Report 
contained in the 2020 Annual Report.   

2.3 A listed entity should disclose: 

(a) the names of the directors considered by the 

Directors of PayGroup are considered to be independent 
when they are independent of management and free from 
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 BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATION COMMENT 

board to be independent directors; 

(b) if a director has an interest, position, 
association or relationship of the type 
described in Box 2.3 but the board is of the 
opinion that it does not compromise the 
independence of the director, the nature of 
the interest, position, association or 
relationship in question and an explanation of 
why the board is of that opinion; and 

(c) the length of service of each director. 

any business or other relationship that could materially 
interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment. 
The following Directors are considered to be Independent: 
Mr Ian Basser and Mr David Fagan. 

The date of appointment of each Director is set out in the 
Directors’ Report Section of the 2020 Annual Report. 

2.4 A majority of the board of a listed entity should be 
independent directors. 

At the date of this report and during the period a majority of 
directors were not independent directors, as two out of four 
directors are independent.  The Board considers that given 
the size of the Company’s operations and the Board, this is 
appropriate. 

2.5 The chair of the board of a listed entity should be 
an independent director and, in particular, should 
not be the same person as the CEO of the entity. 

The Chairman is an independent director. The Chief 

Executive Officer is not the Chairman. 

2.6 A listed entity should have a program for inducting 
new directors and provide appropriate professional 
development opportunities for directors to develop 
and maintain the skills and knowledge needed to 
perform their role as directors effectively. 

The Company has an induction program for new directors. 

The Company has policies and procedures in place to assist 
Directors in fulfilling their responsibilities.  The Company has 
an informal process to educate new Directors about the 
nature of the business, including information on the 
Company’s core values, corporate and financial strategy, 
objectives, as well as its governance framework and 
operations.  

The Board receives ongoing governance updates as 
required, including in relation to recent legislative and 
regulatory changes and developments in corporate 
governance.  All Directors have ongoing access to 
information on the Company’s operations and to the 
Company’s senior management.  The Company provides the 
capacity for any Director to obtain separate professional 
advice on any matter being discussed by the Board and for 
the Company to pay the cost incurred.   

3. Promote ethical and responsible decision-making 

3.1 A listed entity should: 

(a) have a code of conduct for its directors, 
senior executives and employees; and 

(b) disclose that code or a summary of it. 

The Board has drawn up a formal code of conduct to guide 
Board members, executives and employees in carrying out 
their duties and responsibilities, to guide compliance with 
legal and other obligations and to maintain confidence in the 
Company’s integrity.  Executives and employees are 
encouraged to report to Board members any concerns 
regarding potentially unethical practices.   

The code of conduct is disclosed on the Company’s website 
in the Corporate Governance Policy. 

In addition, during the Period the Board adopted a 
Whistleblower Policy the object of which is to provide a 
whistleblower reporting regime, and protection for 
whistleblowers.  The Whistleblower Policy is disclosed on the 
Company’s website in the Corporate Governance Policy. 
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BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATION COMMENT 

4. Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 

4.1 The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have an audit committee which: 

(1) has at least three members, all of whom 
are non-executive directors and a majority 
of whom are independent directors; and 

(2) is chaired by an independent director, who 
is not the chair of the board, 

and disclose: 

(3) the charter of the committee; 

(4) the relevant qualifications and experience 
of the members of the committee; and 

(5) in relation to each reporting period, the 
number of times the committee met 
throughout the period and the individual 
attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have an audit committee, disclose 
that fact and the processes it employs that 
independently verify and safeguard the integrity 
of its corporate reporting, including the 
processes for the appointment and removal of 
the external auditor and the rotation of the audit 
engagement partner. 

Audit and Risk Committee 

The Board has established an Audit & Risk Committee 
however during the period determined that the work of this 
Committee should be carried out by the full Board.. 

The leader of Audit & Risk Committee work at Board level 
is chaired by David Fagan, who is an independent 
chairman and who is not chair of the Board.   

The Board carries out the functions of this Committee twice 
a year, represented by one meeting to review each of the 
full year and half year financial reports and make 
recommendation to the Board. Further meetings may be 
held for discussion on policies and procedures and risk 
management matters.  

Meetings are attended by the accounting firm audit partner 
responsible for the Company’s audit when appropriate. 

A copy of the Company’s Audit & Risk Committee Charter 
is available on the Company’s website in the Corporate 
Governance Policy.     

  

4.2 The board of a listed entity should, before it approves 
the entity’s financial statements for a financial period, 
receive from its CEO and CFO a declaration that, in 
their opinion, the financial records of the entity have 
been properly maintained and that the financial 
statements comply with the appropriate accounting 
standards and give a true and fair view of the 
financial position and performance of the entity and 
that the opinion has been formed on the basis of a 
sound system of risk management and internal 
control which is operating effectively. 

The Board has obtained the relevant assurances from 
management. 

4.3 A listed entity that has an AGM should ensure that its 
external auditor attends its AGM and is available to 
answer questions from security holders relevant to 
the audit. 

The external auditor attends its AGM and is available to 
answer questions from security holders relevant to the 
audit. 
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BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATION COMMENT 

5. Make timely and balanced disclosure  

5.1 A listed entity should: 

(a) have a written policy for complying with its 
continuous disclosure obligations under the 
Listing Rules; and 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

The Company’s Corporate Governance Policy is designed 
to promote transparency and investor confidence and 
ensure that all interested parties have an equal opportunity 
to obtain information which is issued by the Company.  
Additionally, the Company is committed to complying with 
the continuous disclosure obligations contained in the ASX 
Listing Rules and the Corporations Act 2001.  

A copy of the Company’s Corporate Governance Policy is 
available on the Company’s website.   

6. Respect the rights of shareholders  

6.1 A listed entity should provide information about itself 
and its governance to investors via its website. 

The Company provides information about itself and its 
governance on its website. All policies and charters 
concerning governance issues are located on a dedicated 
section headed Corporate Governance. 

6.2 A listed entity should design and implement an 
investor relations program to facilitate effective two-
way communication with investors. 

The Company has in place a Disclosure to the Investment 
Community Policy, which promotes effective 
communication with shareholders. The Policy is available 
in the Corporate Governance Policy. 

6.3 A listed entity should disclose the policies and 
processes it has in place to facilitate and encourage 
participation at meetings of security holders. 

The Board encourages full participation of shareholders at 
the AGM to ensure a high level of accountability and 
identification with the Company’s strategy and goals.  

The 2020 Notice of Annual General Meeting will be 
provided to all shareholders and made available on the 
Company website.  

The external auditor is required to attend the AGM of the 
Company and is available to answer shareholder questions 
about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and 
content of the auditor’s report. 

Shareholders are able to communicate with the Company 
electronically and ask questions via the Company’s 
website or by email.  Investors are also able to 
communicate with the Company’s share registry 
electronically, by emailing the share registry or via the 
share registry’s website. 

6.4 A listed entity should give security holders the option 
to receive communications from, and send 
communications to, the entity and its security registry 
electronically. 

The Company gives security holders the option to receive 
communications from, and send communications to, the 
entity and its security registry electronically. 
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•  BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS COMMENT 

7. Recognise and manage risk  

7.1 The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have a committee or committees to oversee 
risk, each of which: 

(1) has at least three members, a majority 
of whom are independent directors; and 

(2) is chaired by an independent director, 

and disclose: 

(3) the charter of the committee; 

(4) the members of the committee; and 

(5) as at the end of each reporting period, 
the number of times the committee met 
throughout the period and the individual 
attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have a risk committee or 
committees that satisfy (a) above, disclose 
that fact and the processes it employs for 
overseeing the entity’s risk management 
framework. 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that adverse risks and 
mitigation of these risks are identified on a timely basis and 
that the Company’s objectives and activities are aligned with 
the risks and opportunities identified ..   

7.2 The board or a committee of the board should: 

(a) review the entity’s risk management 
framework at least annually to satisfy itself 
that it continues to be sound; and 

(b) disclose, in relation to each reporting 
period, whether such a review has taken 
place. 

Management undertakes detailed risk assessments of the 
Company’s operations, procedures and processes and reports 
to the Board on a regular basis. A review has not taken place 
in the financial year ended 31 March 2020.  

7.3 A listed entity should disclose: 

(a) if it has an internal audit function, how the 
function is structured and what role it 
performs; or 

(b) if it does not have an internal audit function, 
that fact and the processes it employs for 
evaluating and continually improving the 
effectiveness of its risk management and 
internal control processes. 

The Company does not currently have an internal audit 
function.  Management reviews the Company’s major business 
units, organisational structure and accounting controls and 
processes on a regular basis and reports accordingly to the 
Board.  The Board is satisfied that the processes in place to 
identify the Company’s material business risks are appropriate 
and that these risks are being effectively managed.  The 
Company’s risk management processes are monitored and 
reported against on an ongoing basis. 

7.4 A listed entity should disclose whether it has any 
material exposure to economic, environmental 
and social sustainability risks and, if it does, how 
it manages or intends to manage those risks. 

The Company does not have any economic, environmental 
and social sustainability risks over and above those of every 
commercial organisation, and not already disclosed to security 
holders. 
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 BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATION COMMENT 

8. Remunerate fairly and responsibly  

8.1 The board of a listed entity should: 

(a) have a remuneration committee which: 

(1) has at least three members, a majority of 
whom are independent directors; and 

(2) is chaired by an independent director, 

and disclose: 

(3) the charter of the committee; 

(4) the members of the committee; and 

(5) as at the end of each reporting period, the 
number of times the committee met 
throughout the period and the individual 
attendances of the members at those 
meetings; or 

(b) if it does not have a remuneration committee, 
disclose that fact and the processes it 
employs for setting the level and composition 
of remuneration for directors and senior 
executives and ensuring that such 
remuneration is appropriate and not 
excessive. 

The Company does not have a Nomination & Remuneration 

Committee and the Board as a whole are responsible for: 

• determining and reviewing compensation 
arrangements for the Directors and the Managing 
Director; and 

• approving parameters within which the review of 
the compensation arrangements for the senior 
executive team can be conducted by the Managing 
Director.   

Given the size of the Board and operations of the Company 
a Remuneration Committee is not necessary. 

8.2 A listed entity should separately disclose its 
policies and practices regarding the remuneration 
of non-executive directors and the remuneration of 
executive directors and other senior executives. 

Details of Directors’ and key management personnel 
remuneration for the period ending 31 March 2020 are set 
out in the Remuneration Report (contained in the 2020 
Annual Report).   

The structure of non-executive Directors’ remuneration is 
distinct from that of executives. 

Further details in relation to the Company’s remuneration 
policies (including its equity based remuneration policies) are 
contained in the Remuneration Report, within the Directors’ 
report. 

8.3 A listed entity which has an equity-based 
remuneration scheme should: 

(a) have a policy on whether participants are 
permitted to enter into transactions (whether 
through the use of derivatives or otherwise) 
which limit the economic risk of participating 
in the scheme; and 

(b) disclose that policy or a summary of it. 

The Company’s Employee Share Plan (ESP) provides an 
interest free loan to selected senior employees which are 
subject to escrow for 2 years.  The Shares issued under the 
ESP cannot be dealt with or encumbered in any way during 
the escrow period. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

Your Directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to herein as “the Group”, “PYG” or 

“PayGroup”) consisting of PayGroup Limited and its controlled entities for the financial year ended 31 March 2020.  

 

1. Directors 

 

The following persons were directors of PayGroup Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the date 

of this report, unless otherwise stated: 

Ian Basser   

Mark Samlal  

David Fagan   

Franck Neron-Bancel   

 

2. Information on Directors 

Ian Basser –  Non-Executive Director (Independent)  

Experience –  Ian was appointed to the Board in July 2017 as an independent 
Non‑Executive Director and Chairman. Ian has over 32 years’ 
experience in starting, running and building service companies 
around the world including Australia, Hong Kong, China, 
Singapore, USA, UK and Europe. He was Chief Executive Officer 
and Managing Director of Chandler Macleod Group Limited until 
August 2012. Prior to joining Chandler Macleod, he spent five 
years establishing and developing the Mettle Group as a strategic 
leadership and culture consultancy. Prior to Mettle Group, Ian was 
Group Managing Director of Harvey Nash running operations in the 
UK, Europe and Asia. Prior to Harvey Nash, he was on the global 
management team of Michael Page International building 
operations in Australia, Asia and North America.  

Directorships held in other listed entities 

during the three years prior to the current 

period 

–  None 

   

Mark Samlal –  Managing Director 

Experience –  Mark co‑founded Pay Asia Pte Ltd (PayAsia) in 2006 where he was 

Non‑Executive Chairman until being appointed to the role of 
Executive Chairman and Managing Director of PayAsia in July 
2015. In July 2017, he was appointed to the Board of PayGroup 
and to the role of Managing Director of the Group. Mark has over 
24 years’ experience in leadership roles in Asia Pacific including 
being a Director and General Manager of ADP in Asia Australia 
(1999‑2003). His previous senior roles included Chief Executive 
Officer VicPlas Ltd a Singapore Stock Exchange listed company in 
(2008‑2014) and Executive Director of Omni Industries in 

Singapore (2006‑2008). Mark is affiliated with the major 
shareholder and is based in Singapore. 

 

Special Responsibilities –  Chief Executive Officer 

Directorships held in other listed entities 

during the three years prior to the current 

period 

–  None 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

   

 

David Fagan 

 

–  

 

Non-Executive Director (Independent) and Chair of Audit 

Committee 

Experience –  David was appointed to the Board in July 2017 as a Non‑Executive 
Director. He is the chair of the Audit and Risk Committee. David 
has over 38 years’ experience in law practice including over 30 
years with Clayton Utz culminating in the role of Board Member 
and National Chief Executive Partner (2001‑2010).  

Current Non-Executive Director roles include ASX listed Medibank 
Private Limited (since 2014) including Chair of the Board Risk 
Management Committee, and UBS Grocon Real Estate Investment 
Management (since March 2014). David holds both a Bachelor and 
Master of Laws from University of Melbourne and is based in 
Melbourne, Australia. 

Directorships held in other listed entities 

during the three years prior to the current 

period 

–  Medibank Private Limited (ASX:MPL) 

   

Franck Neron-Bancel – Executive Director 

Experience –  Franck joined PayAsia in May 2017 as an adviser and was 
appointed to the Board of PayGroup in July 2017 as Executive 
Director and Chief Strategy Officer. Franck has over 21 years’ 
industry experience in global HCM and payroll services with 
global leader Automatic Data Processing, Inc. (NASDAQ: ADP, 
Market Cap: USD 63 billion). Franck’s tenure at ADP culminated 
in the role of Senior Vice President Strategic Account 
Management (2013‑2017), with reporting to the ADP Global 
Enterprise Solutions President. 
Franck holds a Bachelor’s Degree (General Management, 
Finance & Marketing) from KEDGE Business School and is based 
in New York, United States of America. 

Special Responsibilities - Chief Strategy Officer 

Directorships held in other listed entities 

during the three years prior to the current 

period 

–  None 

   

3. Directors’ Shareholdings 

The table below sets out each Director’s relevant interest in shares or options of the Company at the date of this 

report: 

Director 

Number of ordinary 

shares 

Number of ordinary shares 

issued under employee 

share scheme 

Ian Basser 258,843 301,302 

Mark Samlal(1) 22,118,470 - 

David Fagan 61,785 222,964 

Franck Neron-Bancel 771,406 222,964 

Total 23,210,504 747,230 
 

(1) Shares indirectly held by Mark Samlal through related parties. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

 

 

4. Company Secretary 

Oliver Carton B Juris LLB was appointed Company Secretary on 13 July 2017 and resigned 2 May 2019. Oliver 

was re-appointed as Company Secretary on 9 January 2020.  

Justin Owen CA, F FIN, PayGroup’s CFO, was appointed Company Secretary from 2 May 2019 to 9 January 2020.  

 

5. Directors’ Meetings 

The table below sets out the number of meetings held during the 2020 financial year and the number of meetings 

attended by each Director. During the period, 12 Board meetings were held. 

 

Director Eligible to 

attend 

Attended 

Ian Basser  12 12 

Mark Samlal  12 12 

David Fagan 12 12 

Franck Neron-Bancel 12 12 

  

Since the Initial Public Offering (“IPO”), no other sub-committees other than the Audit and Risk Committee have 

been established, with all responsibility held and actions undertaken by the Board. This structure is reviewed 

annually by the Board. 

  

6. Review of Operations 

Principal activities 

PayGroup Limited (“PayGroup”) headquartered in Melbourne, Australia, is the holding company for PayAsia, a 
specialist provider of payroll and human capital management solutions.  

PayAsia delivers Software-with-a-Service (“SwaS”) payroll solutions and leveraging a Cloud (“SaaS”) based Human 
Capital Management platform, HROnline, for data aggregation, reporting and critical workflows.  

The Group is also a leader in workforce management solutions for complex businesses via Pay Asia Management 
Pvt Ltd (“PayAsia Management” an entity incorporated and operating in India) as well as expanding to providing  
workforce management solutions in Australia and New Zealand with its acquisition of Astute One Limited. 

 
PayGroup successfully listed on the ASX on the 29 May 2018 and completed the acquisition of PayAsia via a share 
swap arrangement as at the date of listing. The Group further acquired Pay Asia Management Pvt Ltd (“PayInd”), a 
company based in India on 29 February 2019 via a 100% acquisition for cash consideration. 

Following the acquisition, PayGroup, PayAsia and PayInd (Group) have continued to expand the underlying 

PayAsia business.  

During the financial year, PayGroup acquired Astute One Limited and its wholly owned subsidiaries (“AstuteOne”) 
on 1 November 2019.  AstuteOne consists of entities incorporated in Australia and provides payroll SaaS solutions  
along with Managed Payroll Services (MPS) in Australia and New Zealand.   

FY20 results represents full 12 months performance for PayAsia and Pay Asia Management and 5 months 
contribution from AstuteOne.   

FY19 results represents 10 months performance for PayAsia and 1 months contribution for Pay Asia Management.   
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Financial performance 

Statutory revenue reported for the financial year was $10.1 million. PayAsia and PayAsia Management contributed 

$7.2 and $2.9 million contribution by AstuteOne (5 months contribution to the Group).  

PayGroup reported a statutory EBITDA loss of $0.6 million (2019: $1.2 million) for the financial year.    

Cash on hand as at 31 March 2020 was $9 million, of which $7 million related to restricted funds held on behalf of 

payroll clients.  

The Group achieved a positive operating cash flow of $1,843,213 for the quarter ended 31 March 2020 and 

operating activities cash outflow for the full financial year was $139,858.   

Uplift of $10.5 million in intangible assets reported by the Group were driven by $9.2 million recognised as the fair 

value of the intangible assets acquired from the purchase of the AstuteOne ($6.3 million being the fair value of the 

software recognised on acquisition).      

On 20 Nov 2019 the Group successfully completed $3 million capital raise via placement to institutional investors.   

Proceeds were used to fund growth and acquisition costs. 

The statutory result also includes one-off costs associated with the acquisition of AstuteOne. 

 

7. Business Strategies, Prospects and Risks for the Future Financial Years 

The Group reported a strong growth for the financial year.  Positive operating activities cash flow was achieved in 

second half of FY20 (post one-off adjustments).  The Group’s payslips processed grew from 347K per month end of 

FY19 to 395K per month FY20 (increase by 48K per month)1.  

FY20 was a solid year with the successful acquisition of AstuteOne allowing the Group to further expand its 

technology platform and SaaS business from offering 9 modules to 16 modules, positively contributing to the 

improved financial performance of the Group, as well as allowing deeper expansion into Australia and New Zealand 

markets.   

PayGroup continued to grow during the financial year under all revenue channels of SwaS, SaaS and Global 

Partner Programs (GPP).  The Group also launched its Treasury function in Q2 FY20 which is expected to bring in 

additional revenue growth under SwaS or GPP channels.  

PayGroup now has 875 customers as at 31 March 2020 (up from 450 as at 31 March 2019) and maintains its high 

customer retention rate at 95% during the financial year.  The Group expanded its geographical capabilities to 33 

countries (up from 25 in prior year).    

The advent of Covid-19 has seen a number of growing payroll regulatory and legislative changes but also 

opportunities due to the increased complexities to process payroll accurately.  There is increasing demand to move 

to the cloud-based payroll environment, creating new opportunities for the Group.   Increased multi-country service 

offerings and capabilities globally has provided opportunities particularly with our Global Partners.   

Sales pipeline remains strong entering into FY21.   The group signed new contracts totalling $2.7M TCV in the first 

2 months of the new financial year.  Implementation remains busy with 12K payslip2 in implementation backlog as 

at 31 March 2020 (up from almost 8K as at 31 March 2019).  

The Group continues to see strong opportunities and new sales win momentum in Q1 of FY21.  Focus remains with 

building technology capabilities to strengthen our global opportunities and particularly in Australia and New Zealand 

for AstueOne.  Global Partnership Programs is expected to bring additional revenue generating partnerships in 

FY21 with  strong growth also projected in Treasury services.   

 

1 Includes Astute payslips and those associated with new Treasury Services Offering. 

2 Employees contracted to be implemented but not yet on-boarded and includes SwaS, SaaS and Treasury services.  
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8. Subsequent Events 

There have been no other matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial period, that have 

significantly affected, or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the 

state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years.  
 

Covid-19 update: 
 

PayGroup is well equipped to execute its business continuity planning (“BCP”) policy for Covid-19.  Investments in 

technology pre-Covid-19 has allowed the group to execute BCP with its workforce across all business segments 

working from home without material impact to its service delivery to clients or loss of productivity.  
 

The group is closely monitoring the global economic impact of Covid-19 and across its geographical business 

segments and client base.  To date, PayGroup financials is largely unimpacted by Covid-19 and has not seen 

reported revenue substantially decline to date.  From the date of this reporting, the group is unaware of any factors 

suggesting a substantial impact to its top line revenue or operational cost base due to Covid-19.   
 

Notwithstanding this, PayGroup has identified significant cost saving opportunities across its segments and is 

therefore, well positioned for any unforeseen adverse impacts from Covid-19. 

 

9. Changes in State of Affairs 

The Group successfully completed institutional placement of shares for $3,000,000 in November and acquired 

Astute One Limited and its wholly owned subsidiaries on 1 November 2019.   

Apart from the matters referred to above and within the subsequent event note, there were no other significant 

changes in the state of affairs of the Group other than that referred to in the financial statements or notes thereto. 

 

10. Environmental Factors 

PayGroup is not subject to any significant environmental regulation under Australian Commonwealth or State law. 

PayGroup recognises its obligations to its stakeholders (customers, shareholders, employees and the community) 

to operate in a way that minimises the impact it has on the environment. 

 

11. Dividends 

No dividend was paid for the year ended 31 March 2020. A total unfranked dividend of $750,000 (1.45 cents/share) 

was paid on 30 July, 2018 (Record date – 10 July, 2018) for the period ended 31 March 2019.  

 

12. Indemnification of Directors, Officers and Auditors 

The Directors of PayGroup Limited are indemnified against liabilities pursuant to agreements with PayGroup 

Limited. PayGroup Limited has entered into insurance contracts with a third party insurance provider, in accordance 

with normal commercial practices. Under the terms of the insurance contract, the nature of the liabilities insured 

against and the amount of premiums paid are confidential. The Group is not aware of any liability that arose under 

these indemnities as at the date of this report. 

During or since the end of financial year, the Group has not indemnified or made a relevant agreement to indemnify 

the auditor against a liability incurred as auditor. 

 

13. Proceedings on Behalf of Company 

No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the company or intervene in any 

proceedings to which the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the company for all 

or any part of those proceedings. 

The company was not a party to any such proceedings during the period. 
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14. Non-audit services 

During the year, Grant Thornton Australia, the Company’s auditor, has performed certain other services in addition 

to its audit responsibilities.  

The Board, in accordance with advice received from the Board’s Audit and Risk Committee, is satisfied that the 

provision of non– audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, the 

auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 

• all non–audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Company to ensure 

that they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and 

• the non–audit services provided did not undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set 

out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants as they did not involve reviewing or auditing the 

auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision making capacity of the Company.  

No officer of the Company was a partner or director of Grant Thornton during the financial year.  

Details of the amounts paid to the auditors and its related practices for audit and non–audit services provided during 

the year are disclosed in note 17 of the financial statements accompanying this report. 

 

15. Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

The lead auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 31 March 2020 has been received and can be 

found on page 13 of the financial report. 

 

16. Employee Share Plan 

No shares were granted/ issued under employee share plan for the current year ended 31 March 2020 and prior 
period ended 31 March 2019. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT - AUDITED  

 

Remuneration Policy 

The Directors present the consolidated entity’s 2020 audited remuneration report which details the remuneration 

information for PayGroup Limited’s executive directors, non-executive directors and other key management 

personnel. 

For the purposes of this report, Key Management Personnel (KMP) are defined as those persons having 

authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the business, directly or 

indirectly, as an executive.  

The names and positions of KMP in the Group during the whole of the financial year unless otherwise stated are: 

As at 31 March 2020 

Name Position Dates 

Current KMP    

Mark Samlal Managing Director Full year 

Ian Basser Non-Executive Chairman (independent) Full year 

David Fagan Non-Executive Director (independent) Full year 

Franck Neron-Bancel Executive Director & Chief Strategy Officer Full year 

Elise Nguyen Chief Financial Officer From 20 January 2020 

Former KMP   

Justin Owen1 Chief Financial Officer / Company Secretary2 From 1 December 2018 to 20 January 2020 

 1. From 1 December 2018 to 20 January 2020, Justin Owen undertook the CFO role on a full time basis, providing this service via a company controlled 

by Justin Owen. Prior to this date the services were provided on a part-time basis. 

2. Justin Owen was appointed Company Secretary from 1 May 2019 to 9 January 2020 

 

Principles used to determine nature and amount of remuneration 

The Directors agreed that, due to the size and structure of the Group and Board, that remuneration responsibility 

would be held by the Board.   

An annual review will be undertaken by the Board with changes made as deemed appropriate to the size, 

structure and needs of the Group.  

The Board can obtain professional advice where necessary to ensure that the Group attracts and retains 

talented and motivated directors and employees who can enhance performance through their contribution and 

leadership.   

The guiding principles for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for KMP of the Group is as 

follows: 

• remuneration should include an appropriate mix of fixed and performance based components, 

• components of remuneration should be understandable, transparent and easy to communicate; and 

• Remuneration Committee / Board to review KMP packages annually by reference to the Group’s 
performance, executive performance and comparable information from industry sectors.  

The Board sets out to link remuneration polices with the achievement of financial and personal objectives. 

Results from the renumeration benchmark and framework study completed during the year were reviewed by the 

Board confirming that PayGroup’s employees are paid within the industry spread for their role, responsibility and 

seniority relative to the country with which they are employed in.   
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Group financial performance 

EBITDA growth together with improved asset returns are underpinned by the Company’s focus on portfolio 

premiumisation, brand building investment, strategic customer partnerships, more efficient routes-to-market and 

a cost conscious culture. FY20 results demonstrate the benefits of this strategy delivering EBITDA loss of $0.6 

million (FY19: $1.2 million), marking 50% improvement over year on year performance.  

Given the Group only recently listed on the ASX in May 2018, the presentation and assessment of the Group’s 

financial performance represents 10 months of FY19 and 12 months of FY20 trading. The table below 

summarises the Company’s financial performance over last two financial years: 

 

 2020 2019 
 $ $ 

EBITDA            (636,495)         (1,217,813) 
Earnings/ (loss) per share (in cents)               (3.57)                (3.66) 

 

As the Group only recently listed on the ASX the Group has broadly retained the remuneration structure as 

outlined in the prospectus for the Directors. 

 

Components of remuneration 

Non-executive directors are remunerated with fees within the aggregate limit as approved by shareholders. 

 Name Annual Approved Fee  

 Ian Basser $100,000  

 David Fagan $85,000  

The executive directors and other KMP are remunerated based upon market value of the position and the range 

of skills and experience they bring to the Group and, going forward, will be split between fixed and performance 

linked remuneration. 

Fixed remuneration will consist of base remuneration and employer contributions to superannuation /or its 

equivalent in other jurisdictions. 

Performance linked renumeration consists of Short-term Incentives (STI) and Long-term Incentives (LTI) via 

Employee Share Plan with key performance metrics tied to group objectives.  

 

Employee Share plan 

No shares were granted under the employee share plan in 2020 and 2019.  

The balance of the employee share plan represents the shares granted on the 23 February 2018 under the Loan 

Share Plan where the Directors and senior employees, including KMP, were invited to apply for Plan Shares. A 

limited recourse loan was provided to allow the Directors and senior employees to purchase the Plan Shares at 

the Company’s Initial Public Offering price of $0.50 per share, pursuant to the terms of the loan agreement. The 

Plan Shares are subject to voluntary escrow conditions of 24 months from date of issue and vest on issue.  

Shares issued to Directors and employees under the employee share plan financed via a non-recourse loan are 

treated in the same way as options and fair valued accordingly at issue date. The fair value of the Loan Share 

Plan was calculated using the Binomial option pricing model. The value of the shares has been expensed on a 

proportionate basis from grant date to vesting date. As the shares vested immediately the full value of $216,904 

has been recognised on share issue in the share based payment reserve. 

The Plan aims to recognise long-term performance by rewarding the Directors and key management with 

Performance Shares which will allow them to share in the growth in value of the Company. 

 

Consolidated entity performance and link to remuneration 

There were no performance based remuneration measures for 2020 or prior period. 

In respect of the current financial year and prior period there were no bonus payments made to key management 

personnel. 
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Details of Remuneration  

Details of remuneration of the Directors and KMP of the Group are set out in the following tables. 

 

2020 Directors and other Executives Remuneration 

 

Short Term 

Post 

Employment 

Long Term 

Benefits 

Share Based 

Payments Total 

Total 

Performance 

Related 

Equity as a % 

of Total 

 

Salary/Fees 

$ 

Bonus 

$ 

Super-

annuation 

$ 

Long Service 

Leave 

$ 

Shares 

$ 

Employee 

Share Plan  

$ 

 

$ 

 

% 

 

% 

2020 Directors’ Remuneration 

I Basser 100,000 - - - - - 100,000 - - 

M Samlal 366,608 - 17,545 - - - 384,153 - - 

D Fagan 85,000 - - - - - 85,000 - - 

F Neron-Bancel 347,941 - - - - - 347,941 - - 

Total 899,549  - 17,545 - - - 917,094  - - 

2020 Other Executives’ remuneration 

J Owen 212,490 - - - - - 212,490 - - 

E Nguyen 41,815 - - - - - 41,815 - - 

Total 254,305 - - - - - 254,305 - - 

1 Appointed full time 1 December 2018  

There were no non-monetary benefits provided       

Directors and other Executives Remuneration 

Total 1,153,854 - 17,545 - - - 1,171,399 - - 

 

2019 Directors and other Executives Remuneration 

 

Short Term 

Post 

Employment 

Long Term 

Benefits 

Share Based 

Payments Total 

Total 

Performance 

Related 

Equity as a % 

of Total 

 

Salary/Fees 

$ 

Bonus 

$ 

Super-

annuation 

$ 

Long Service 

Leave 

$ 

Shares 

$ 

Employee 

Share Plan  

$ 

 

$ 

 

% 

 

% 

2019 Directors’ Remuneration 

I Basser 91,667 - - - 8,333 - 100,000 - 8.3 

M Samlal 300,732 - 14,864 - - - 315,596 - - 

D Fagan 85,000 - - - - - 85,000 - - 

F Neron-Bancel 297,906 - - - - - 297,906 - - 

Total 775,305 - 14,864 - 8,333 - 798,502 - 1.0 

There were no non-monetary benefits provided 
 

   

2019 Other Executive remuneration 

J Owen1 187,380 - - - - - 187,380 - - 

Total 187,380 - - - - - 187,380 - - 

1 Appointed full time 1 December 2018  

There were no non-monetary benefits provided       

Director and Executive Remuneration       

Total 962,685 - 14,864 - 8,333 - 985,882 - 0.8 
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The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows: 

 Fixed remuneration At risk- STI At risk - LTI 

Name 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 

Non-Executive Directors:     

I Basser 100% 100% - - - - 

D Fagan 100% 100% - - - - 

Executive Directors:      

M Samlal  100% 100% - - - - 

F Neron-Bancel 100% 100% - - - - 

Other Key Management Personnel    

J Owen 100% 100% - - - - 

E Nguyen 100% n/a     

 

Details of Share Based Compensation 

Options 

No options have been issued by the Company in the current year or prior year. 

 

Employee Shares 

There were no employee shares offered or issued in the current year or prior year. 

Service Agreements 

The contracts for service between the Group and specified executives are formalised in service 

agreements. The major provisions in the agreements relating to remuneration are set out below: 

Mark Samlal, Managing Director / Chief Executive Officer 

• Permanent employment contract commencing 1 November 2014 

• Fixed annual remuneration of SGD330,296 including superannuation/retirement benefits and 

director fees and a housing allowance of SGD2,300.  

• Termination by provision of six months’ notice by either the Executive or the Company 

  

Franck Neron-Bancel, Executive Director and Chief Strategy Officer 

• Consulting and service agreement commencing 1 May 2017 

• Consultancy fee of USD17,000 per month (from April 2019 to December 2019), USD$14,000 

(Jan 2020) and USD11,000 per month (from February 2020). 

• Director’s fee of AUD70,000 per annum as Executive Director of PayGroup commencing from 

date of listing the company on the ASX. 

• Termination by provision of 6 months’ notice by either the Executive or the Company. 

 

Justin Owen, former Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 

• Permanent part time contract with CFO Effect Pty Ltd, transitioned to permanent full time 

contract commencing 1 November 2018. 

• Fixed remuneration of $275,000 inclusive of superannuation 

• Termination by provision of one months’ notice by either CFO Effect Pty Ltd or the Company. 
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Elise Nguyen, Chief Financial Officer 

• Permanent employment contract commencing 20 January 2020 

• Fixed annual remuneration of SGD208,000 and short term incentive up to 30% of annual salary  

• Termination by provision of two months’ notice by either the Executive or the Company 

 

KMP Shareholding 2020 

 

Balance at 

Beginning of 

year 

Employee shares 

issued as 

remuneration 

during year 

Shares issued 

as equity 

settled 

remuneration 

Other changes during 

year 

Balance at end 

of year 

    On Market Other  

Ian Basser 501,302 - - 58,843 - 560,145 

Mark Samlal(1) 22,080,706 - - 37,764 - 22,118,470 

David Fagan 222,964 - - 61,785 - 284,749 

Franck Neron-Bancel 947,296 - - 47,074 - 994,370 

Justin Owen 132,313 - - - - 132,313 

Elise Nguyen - - - - - - 

(1) Shares indirectly held by Mark Samlal through related parties. 

Transactions with KMP and/or their related party 

 
There were no transactions conducted between the Group and KMP or their related parties, apart from KMP 
remuneration as disclosed above and rental payments as disclosed in note 16 of the financial statements 
accompanying this report.  These transactions were conducted in accordance with normal employee, 
customer or supplier relationships on terms no more favourable than those reasonably expected under arm’s 
length dealings with unrelated persons. 

 

End Remuneration Report 

This directors’ report, incorporating the remuneration report, is signed in accordance with a resolution of the 

Board of Directors: 

 

 

 

 

 

Ian Basser, Chairman 

26 June 2020 
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 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 

     

           Consolidated 

 Notes 2020 

$ 

 2019 

$ 

Restated 

Revenue from continuing operations 7 10,067,860  4,738,424 

Interest income  15,713  10,769 

Other income 7 853,808  228,527 

Gain from a bargain purchase 15 -  179,528 

Expenses     

Subcontractors  (795,548)  (457,507) 

Hosting services  (287,103)  (194,741) 

Employee benefits expense  (5,714,131)  (2,295,826) 

Rent and occupancy  (241,820)  (250,264) 

Initial public offering costs  -  (108,370) 

Consulting and professional fees  (2,802,177)  (1,727,926) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense  (1,402,276)  (287,784) 

Finance costs  (116,662)  (31,075) 

Allowance for credit loss 9b (75,982)  (14,456) 

Overseas office expenses  -  (450,145) 

Travelling expenses  (275,196)  (179,806) 

License fee  (375,663)  (213,516) 

Other expenses  (990,543)  (510,251) 

Loss before income tax  (2,139,720)  (1,564,419) 

Income tax benefit/(charge) 8 65,709  (34,827) 

Loss for the year   (2,074,011)  (1,599,246) 

     

Other comprehensive income/(loss)     

Items that may be reclassified to the statement of profit or loss     

Exchange gain/(loss) on translation of foreign operations  (392,158)  (194,047) 

     

Items that will not be reclassified to the statement of profit or loss     

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plan  160,108  - 

Other comprehensive loss for the year  (232,050)  (194,047) 

     

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (2,306,061)  (1,793,293) 

     

Earnings per share  Cents  Cents 

Basic earnings per share 12a (3.57)  (3.66) 

Diluted earnings per share 12a (3.57)  (3.66) 

 

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 31 MARCH 2020 

           Consolidated 

 Notes 2020  2019 

  $ 

 $ 

Restated 

ASSETS     

Current Assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 9a 9,041,450  6,347,364 

Trade and other receivables 9b 3,849,861  5,294,138 

Income tax recoverable  558,804  409,582 

Prepayments  164,567  66,269 

Contract assets 7 245,714  94,210 

Other assets 9e 510,867  391,800 

Total current assets  14,371,263  12,603,363 

Non-Current Assets     

Trade and other receivables 9b 322,187  287,402 

Right-of-use assets 18 1,622,520  - 

Property, plant and equipment 10a 181,934  136,967 

Intangibles 10b 11,963,051  1,471,883 

Deferred tax assets 10c 80,615  - 

Contract assets 7 740,582  308,060 

Total non-current assets  14,910,889  2,204,312 

TOTAL ASSETS  29,282,152  14,807,675 
     
LIABILITIES     

Current Liabilities     

Trade and other payables 9c 12,562,256  10,038,470 

Borrowings 9d 7,171  - 

Current tax liabilities  64,579  27,905 

Lease liability 18 624,505  - 

Provision 10d 569,206  25,992 

Contract liabilities 7 154,910  36,309 

Total current liabilities  13,982,627  10,128,676 

Non-Current Liabilities     

Contract liabilities 7 446,315  216,797 

Deferred tax liabilities  10c -  82,135 

Lease liability 18 1,096,274  - 

Provision  10d 472,892  326,045 

Total non-current liabilities  2,015,481  624,977 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  15,998,108  10,753,653 
     
NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)  13,284,044  4,054,022 
     
Equity     

Issued capital 11a 36,213,927  24,076,417 

Reserves 11b (17,509,296)  (16,675,819) 

Accumulated losses  (5,420,587)  (3,346,576) 

TOTAL EQUITY   13,284,044  4,054,022 

 

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 

 

 
Issued 
capital 

Reserves 
(Restated) 

Accumulated 
losses 

(Restated) 
Total equity 
(Restated) 

  Consolidated $ $ $ $ 

Balance at 1 April 2018 287,601 216,904 (997,330) (492,825) 

     
Loss after income tax expense for the year as 
previously reported - - (1,778,774) (1,778,774)  

Restatement of gain from a bargain purchase (note 15) - - 179,528 179,528 

Restated loss after income tax expense - - (1,599,246) (1,599,246) 

     

Movement in foreign exchange - (194,047) - (194,047) 

Restated total comprehensive loss for the year - (194,047) (1,599,246) (1,793,293) 
     
Transactions with owners, in their capacity as 
owners:     

Balances acquired and shares issued as part of the 
share swap acquisition of PayAsia 16,127,007 (16,698,676) - (571,669) 

Shares issued during the period 8,500,000 - - 8,500,000 

Cost of share issue recorded directly in equity (838,191) - - (838,191) 

Dividend paid - - (750,000) (750,000) 

Total transactions with owners and other transfers 23,788,816 (16,698,676) (750,000) 6,340,140 

Restated balance at 31 March 2019 24,076,417 (16,675,819) (3,346,576) 4,054,022 

     

Balance at 1 April 2019 24,076,417 (16,675,819) (3,346,576) 4,054,022 

Loss after income tax expense for the year - - (2,074,011) (2,074,011) 

Movement in foreign exchange - (392,158) - (392,158) 

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plan  - 160,108  - 160,108  

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (232,050)  (2,074,011) (2,306,061) 

     
Transactions with owners, in their capacity as 
owners:     

Shares issued pursuant to Astute acquisition 9,190,588 - - 9,190,588 
Retention shares receivable pursuant to Astute 
acquisition - (601,427) - (601,427) 

Shares issued to settle supplier payment 127,000 - - 127,000 

Shares issued – capital raise 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 

Cost of share issued recorded directly in equity (180,078) - - (180,078) 

Total transactions with owners and other transfers 12,137,510 (601,427) - 11,536,083 

Balance at 31 March 2020 36,213,927 (17,509,296) (5,420,587) 13,284,044 

 

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 

 

                                                                                                            2020 

$ 

 2019 

$ 

Restated 

Cash flows from operations    

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST/VAT/SST) 11,304,716  4,445,336 

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST/VAT/SST) (11,331,141)   (9,244,678) 

Interest received 15,121  10,448 

Interest and other finance costs paid (128,554)  (14,088) 

Net cash used in operating activities (139,858)  (4,802,982) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Payment for plant and equipment (99,096)  (37,331) 

Payment for intangibles (2,161,954)  (653,714) 

Net cash inflow from acquisition, net of cash paid (note 15)     261,534  1,106,062 

Net cash received from investing activities (1,999,516)  415,017 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from share issue 3,000,000  8,500,000 

Payments for IPO and fund raise (144,600)  (946,561) 

Dividend paid -  (1,003,062) 

Proceeds from borrowings 570,744  - 

Repayment of borrowings (563,573)  (740,206) 

Repayment of principal on lease liability (296,607)  - 

Employee loan (1,857)  (30,603) 

Net cash used in financing activities 2,564,107  5,779,568 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 424,733  1,391,603 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial period 1,428,748  1 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 114,122  37,144 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period (note 9a) 1,967,603  1,428,748 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020 

 

Note 1. Nature of operations 

PayGroup Limited and its controlled entities (the Group) is addressing the needs of multinational companies of 

any size by delivering Software-with-a-Service (SwaS) payroll solutions and leveraging a Cloud (SaaS) based 

Human Capital Management platform, HROnline, for data aggregation, reporting and critical workflows. Clients 

are typically medium to large employers in multiple countries across Asia Pacific and the Middle East. The 

Group is also a leader in workforce management solutions for complex businesses especially for Workforce 

Management Companies in Australia and New Zealand with its acquisition of Astute One Ltd. 

PayGroup has 183 employees located in 11 countries are servicing over 875 client entities representing more 

than 395,000 payslips per month. 

  

Note 2. General information and Statement of Compliance 

 

Basis of Preparation 

The consolidated general purpose financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with 

the Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the 

Corporations Act 2001 and complies with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board. These consolidated financial statements were authorised by the 

Board of Directors for issue on 26 June 2020. 

 

Except for cash flow information, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accruals 

basis and are based on historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of 

selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial liabilities. 

 

Critical accounting estimates  

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 

requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The 

areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions or estimates are 

significant to the financial report, are disclosed in Note 5. 

 

Note 3. Changes in significant accounting policies 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the same accounting policies 
adopted in the Group’s last annual financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019, except as 
described below. Note that the changes in accounting policies specified below only apply to the current period. 
The accounting policies included in the Group’s last annual financial statements, for the year ended 31 March 
2019 together with the other policies after Note 3 are the relevant policies for the purposes of comparatives.  

 

AASB 16 Leases and AASB Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments became effective for 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Accordingly, the Group applied AASB 9 and Interpretation 23 for 
the first time to the year ended 31 March 2020. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies arising from these 
standards are noted below. 
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Note 3. Changes in significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

New standards adopted as at 1 April 2019 

 
Adoption of AASB 16 Leases from 1 April 2019 

AASB 16 ‘Leases’ replaces AASB 117 ‘Leases’ along with three Interpretations (Interpretation 4 ‘Determining 
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease’, AASB Interpretation 115 ‘Operating Leases-Incentives’ and AASB 
Interpretation 127 ‘Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease’). The new 
Standard has been applied using the modified retrospective approach, whereby the value of the initial financial 
impact of the leases was recognised from 1 April 2019. Prior periods have not been restated. 
 
For contracts in place at the date of initial application, the Group has elected to apply the definition of a lease 
from AASB 117 and Interpretation 4 and has not applied AASB 16 to arrangements that were previously not 
identified as leases under AASB 117 and Interpretation 4. 
 
The Group has elected not to include initial direct costs in the measurement of the right-of-use asset for 
operating leases in existence at the date of initial application of AASB 16, being 1 April 2019. At this date, the 
Group has also elected to measure the right-of-use assets at an amount equal to the lease liability adjusted for 
any prepaid or accrued lease payments that existed at the date of transition. 
 
Instead of performing an impairment review on the right-of-use assets at the date of initial application, the 
Group has relied on its historic assessment as to whether leases were onerous immediately before the date of 
initial application of AASB 16.  
 
On transition, for leases previously accounted for as operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 
12 months and for leases of low-value assets the Group has applied the optional exemptions to not recognise 
right-of-use assets but to account for the lease expense on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term. 

 

In applying AASB 16 for the first time, the Group has used the following practical expedients permitted by the 

standard: 

• the use of a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics; 

• reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous; 

• the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 April 

2019 as short-term leases; 

• the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial 

application, and 

• the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or 

terminate the lease. 

  

The Group has applied AASB 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore comparative 
information has not been restated. This means comparative information is still reported under AASB 117 and 
Interpretation 4. The adoption of AASB 16 affected the following Balance Sheet items on 1 April 2019: 

 

 As reported 31 
March 2019 

Restated  
$ 

AASB 16 
impact 
$ 

Opening balance 1 
April 2019 

       $ 

Right-of-use assets -  930,872 930,872 

Total assets impact -  930,872  930,872 

    

Lease liabilities   - 930,872 930,872 

Total liabilities impact -  930,872  930,872  

    

Accumulated losses (3,308,060) -  (3,308,060) 

Total equity impact           (3,308,060)  -              (3,308,060)  
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Note 3. Changes in significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

The Group as a lessee 

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 April 2019, the Group considers whether a contract is, or 
contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset 
(the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’. To apply this definition the Group 
assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:  

• the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly 
specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group  

• the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified 
asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract  

• the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The 
Group assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used 
throughout the period of use. 

 

Adoption of AASB Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 

Interpretation 23 clarifies how the recognition and measurement requirements of AASB 112 Income Taxes are 

applied where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. 

The Group has adopted AASB Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments for the first time in 

which gives guidance on the accounting for uncertain tax provisions. The adoption of AASB Interpretation 23 

has not resulted in a material change in relation to provisions for tax uncertainties held by the Group. 

All other amendments to accounting standards and interpretation not yet effective and not included above are 

not material or applicable to the Group 

 
 
Note 4. Significant accounting policies 
 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial information are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated. 

 

a. Principles of consolidation 

 

The consolidated financial report incorporates the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of PayGroup Ltd 

(‘Group’ or ‘parent entity’) as at 31 March 2020.  PayGroup Ltd and its subsidiaries together are referred 

to in this financial report as the ‘Group’. 

Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control.  The Group controls an entity when 

the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the 

ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity.   

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the Group 

are eliminated.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the 

impairment of the assets transferred.  Accounting policies of the subsidiaries have been changed where 

necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting.  A change in 

ownership interest, without the loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction, where the 

difference between the consideration transferred and the book value of the share of the non-controlling 

interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable to the parent. 

Where the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities 

and non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences 

recognised in equity. The Group recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value 

of any investment retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss. 
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Note 4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

b. Going concern 

 

In preparing the financial report, the Directors have made an assessment of the ability of the Group to 

continue as a going concern, which contemplates the continuity of business operations, realisation of 

assets and settlement of liabilities in the ordinary course of business and at the amounts stated in the 

financial report. 

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group will have adequate resources to continue to 

meet its obligations as they fall due. 

c. Current and non-current classification 
 

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current 

classification.  

 

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or 

consumed in the Group's normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is 

expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent 

unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the 

reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current.  

 

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the Group’s normal operating 

cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the 

reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 

months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-current.  

 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current.  

d. Fair value measurement  

 

When an asset or liability, financial or non-financial, is measured at fair value for recognition or disclosure 

purposes, the fair value is based on the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date; and assumes that 

the transaction will take place either: in the principal market; or in the absence of a principal market, in the 

most advantageous market. 

 

Fair value is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset 

or liability, assuming they act in their economic best interests. For non-financial assets, the fair value 

measurement is based on its highest and best use. Valuation techniques that are appropriate in the 

circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value are used, maximising the 

use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.  

 

e. Financial instruments 
 

Recognition and derecognition 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset 
expire, or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. A financial 
liability is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires. 

 

 

 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



  

 

 

 

PayGroup Limited | Annual report | 31 March 2020     Page 32 

 

Note 4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

Subsequent measurement of financial assets 

For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets, other than those designated and effective 
as hedging instruments, are classified into the following four categories:  

 

1. Financial assets at amortised cost 

2. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 

3. Debt instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

4. Equity instruments at FVTOCI 

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented 
within finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables 
which is presented separately. 

 

Trade and other receivables 

The Group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables and records 
the loss allowance at the amount equal to the expected lifetime credit losses. In using this practical 
expedient, the Group uses its historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to 
calculate the expected credit losses. 

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities 

The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, leases, trade and other payables. 

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction 
costs unless the Group designated a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss. 

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method 
except for financial liabilities designated at FVPL, which are carried subsequently at fair value with gains 
or losses recognised in profit or loss. 

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in 
profit or loss are included within finance costs or finance income. 

 

f. Business combinations  

 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations regardless of whether 

equity instruments or other assets are acquired. 

 
The consideration transferred is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of the asset transferred, equity 
instruments issued, all liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the 
amounts of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree is measured at either fair value or the proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All acquisition costs are expensed as incurred to profit or loss. 
 
On the acquisition of a business, the Group assesses the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with contractual terms, economic conditions, 
the Group’s operating or accounting policies and other pertinent conditions in existence at the acquisition 
date. 
 

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group remeasures its previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree at the acquisition date fair value and the difference between the fair value and the 
previous carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss. 
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Note 4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition date fair value. 

Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is 

recognised in profit or loss.  Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its 

subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 

The difference between the acquisition date fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-

controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the consideration transferred and the fair value of 

any pre-existing investment in the acquiree is recognised as goodwill. If the consideration transferred and 

the pre-existing fair value is less than the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired, being a bargain 

purchase to the acquirer, the difference is recognised as a gain directly in profit or loss by the acquirer on 

the acquisition date, but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets 

acquired, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree, if any, the consideration transferred and the 

acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree. 

 

g. Goods and Services Tax (GST) and other similar taxes 

 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST 

incurred is not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the 

acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.  

 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net 

amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other 

payables in the statement of financial position. 

 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or 

financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating 

cash flows. 

 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, 

the tax authority. 

 

h. Foreign currency translation 

 

Transactions in foreign currencies are measured in the respective functional currencies of the Company 

and its subsidiaries and are recorded on initial recognition in the functional currencies at exchange rates 

approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary 

items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 

rates as at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 

currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at the 

end of the reporting period are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

The results and financial position of all the Group entities are translated into Australian dollars 

(AUD) as follows: 

• Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rates at the date of the statement of financial 

position. 
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Note 4. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

• Income and expenses are translated at average rates for the year, which approximates the exchange 

rates at the dates of the transactions. 

• All resulting exchange differences are recognised in a separate component of equity as foreign 

currency translation reserve. 

On aggregation, currency translation differences arising from the net investment in foreign operations are 

taken to the currency translation reserve. 

 

Note 5. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

 

Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting policies  
In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, the Group is of the opinion that there are no 
instances of application of judgement which are expected to have a significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the financial report, except from those involving estimate and as follows: 

a. Capitalisation of intangibles  

Costs directly attributable to the development of computer software are capitalised as intangible 

assets when the Group judges that the technical feasibility of the project is demonstrated, the 

Group has the intention and ability to complete and use the software and the cost can be 

measured reliably. Such costs include purchases of materials and services and payroll related 

costs of employees directly involved in the project. Research costs are recognised as an 

expense when incurred.  

b. Determination of functional currency of the entity's in the Group  

The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates requires the company and the entities in the 

Group to determine its functional currency to prepare the financial statements. When determining 

its functional currency, the company and the entities in the Group consider the primary economic 

environment in which it operates, ie the one in which it primarily generates and expends cash. 

The company and the entities in the Group may also consider the funding sources. Management 

applied its judgment and determined that the functional currency of the company is Australian 

dollars.  

The Group believes that there are no key assumptions made concerning the future and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial period, except as disclosed 
within the notes to the financial statements. 
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Note 6. Segment report 

 

a) An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it may 

earn revenue and incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group’s Chief 

Operating Decision Maker (CODM) in order to effectively allocate Company  resources and assess 

performance.  

 

b) The Group has 3 reportable segments: PayAsia, Astute and India.   In identifying its operating segments, 

management follows the geographical and revenue lines generated under each segment.  Each segment 

performs the following main revenue activities: 

- PayAsia delivers predominantly SwaS payroll solutions and HCM platform as well as payroll Treasury, 

Lodgement and other payroll related services globally.  Most of its business is delivered in APAC 

regional.    

- Astute provides SaaS payroll and workforce management solutions to Australian and New Zealand 

clients.   

- India predominantly provides workforce management solutions to both local and multinational entities 

in India.   

  

c) Reportable segments: 

 

2020 PayAsia Astute India Total 

  $ $ $ $ 
Revenue:         

External revenues 
          

6,425,407 
          

2,858,784 
          

783,669  
           

10,067,860 

Inter-segment revenue 
          

1,825,812 
              

90,909  
          

688,606  
                      

2,605,327     

Total revenue 
          

8,251,219  
           

2,949,693   
        

1,472,275  
             

12,673,187 
          
Results:         

EBITDA 
             

(410,971) 
          

1,500,157   
             

(105,040) 
                 

984,146 

Depreciation and amortization 
             

714,315 
              

462,811 
           

225,150 
               

1,402,276 

EBIT 
             

(1,125,286) 
             

1,037,346 
             

(330,190) 
             

(418,130)  

Interest income 
               

3,159  
                  

263  
            

11,098  
                

14,520   

Interest expense 
             

45,622  
              

37,722  
            

22,670  
               

106,014 

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense 
             

(1,167,749) 
             

999,887 
             

(341,762) 
             

(509,624)  
          
Assets and liabilities:         

Segment assets 
        

12,494,462 
           

13,635,793 
       

3,265,184 
             

29,395,439 

Segment liabilities 16,522,030 
          

3,782,848 
       

2,638,642  
              

22,943,520  

 

d) The totals presented for the Group’s operating segments reconcile to the key financial figures as presented 

in its financial statements as follows: 
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Note 6. Segment report (continued) 
 

i. Segment Revenue 

 2020 
 

$ 

Total reportable segment revenues 12,673,187 

Elimination of inter-segment revenue (2,605,327) 

Total revenue from continuing operations 10,067,860 

 
ii. Segment Operating Profit/(Loss) 

 2020 
 

$ 

Total reportable segment operating loss (509,624) 

Corporate(1) employee benefit expenses (571,648) 

Corporate(1) consulting and professional fees (951,849) 

Corporate(1) other expenses (285,729) 

Corporate(1) interest income 1,193 

Corporate(1) interest expense (10,648) 

Elimination and consolidation adjustments 188,585 

Profit/(loss) before income tax expense (2,139,720) 

 

iii. Segment assets 

 2020 
 

$ 

Total reportable segment assets 
             

29,395,439 

Corporate(1) assets including investment in subsidiaries 25,467,595 

Elimination and consolidation adjustments (25,580,882) 

Total assets 29,282,152  

 

iv. Segment liabilities 

 2020 
 

$ 

Total reportable segment liabilities 22,943,520 

Corporate(1) liabilities 436,401 

Elimination and consolidation adjustments (7,381,813) 

Total liabilities 15,998,108 

(1) Comprises of centrally managed costs, assets and liabilities relating to group employee benefits expense, professional and consultancy charges, 

intangibles and tax. 

 

e) Geographical information: 

Revenue from external customers is attributed to geographic location based on the location of customers. 

The revenue from external customers by geographical location for the year ended 31 March 2020 is set 

out below. The location of non-current assets as at 31 March 2020 is set out below; 

 Revenue ($) 
Non-current 

assets ($) 
   

Australia and New Zealand        3,649,734            11,361,716  

Asia        6,418,126               3,549,173  

       10,067,860           14,910,889  

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



  

 

 

 

PayGroup Limited | Annual report | 31 March 2020     Page 37 

 

Note 6. Segment report (continued) 

 

2019: 

Given the nature of operations of the company up to 31 March 2019, the company does not have 
any segment based reporting. 

 

Note 7. Revenue 

 

Recognition and measurement 

Revenue arises mainly from the sale of outsourced payroll services and workforce management services. 

 

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows a 5-step process: 

a. Identifying the contract with a customer 

b. Identifying the performance obligations 

c. Determining the transaction price 

d. Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations 

e. Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied. 

The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

Revenue is recognised over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by transferring the 

promised goods or services to its customers. 

 

The Group recognises contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance 

obligations and reports these amounts as contract liabilities in the statement of financial position. Similarly, if 

the Group satisfies a performance obligation before it receives the consideration, the Group recognises either 

a contract asset or a receivable in its statement of financial position, depending on whether something other 

than the passage of time is required before the consideration is due. 

 

Implementation Revenue 

As part of sale of an outsourced payroll services contract, the Group will invoice for an implementation fee.  

Typically the outsourced payroll services contract will be for a period of three years post implementation.  The 

implementation is deemed an unsatisfied service obligation with the satisfaction completed during the term of 

the contract.  On this basis, the invoiced implementation fee is initially recognised in the balance sheet as a 

contract liability and then recognised in profit and loss over the term of the contract.  

 

Workforce Management 

Workforce Management solutions represents the provision of labour resources to clients of the Group.  These 

resources are employed within the Group and are provided to clients on an agency / principal relationship.  

Invoices are raised by the contracting entity within the Group based upon the underlying contractual terms 

with the client for the value of the labour resources plus the associated service fee.  For revenue recognition 

purposes only the service fee is recognised as revenue.  The invoiced raised by the Group represents a 

contractual obligation with the client.  Likewise, the employment costs associated with the Workforce 

Management labour contingent are not recognised as an expense. 

Interest 

Interest income is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest rate method. 
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Note 7. Revenue (continued) 

 

Government grants 

Grants from the government are recognised as a receivable at the fair value when there is reasonable 

assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all the attached conditions.  

 

Government grants receivable are recognised as income over the period necessary to match them with the 

related costs which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants relating to 

expenses are shown separately as other income.  

 

Government grants relating to assets are deducted against the carrying amount of the assets. 

 Consolidated 

 2020  2019 

Revenue from continuing operations(1)  $  $ 

Payroll services 9,571,675  4,686,948 

Workforce management service fee 496,185  51,476 

 10,067,860  4,738,424 

(1) Revenue from continuing operations is recognized over the period-of-time. 

 

  Consolidated  

  2020  2019  

 Other income $  $  

 Foreign exchange gain 419,584  172,381  

 Government grant income 284,007  13,800  

 Other 150,217  42,346  

  853,808  228,527  

   

Contract assets 

 Current     

 Contract assets - Deferred customer set-up costs 245,714  94,210  

 Non-Current     

 Contract assets - Deferred customer set-up costs 740,582  308,060  

      

 

 

The contract assets relate primarily to the cost of activities to implement an outsourced payroll services 

contract but do not result in a transfer of services to the customer. The entity accounts for the initial setup / 

implementation costs such as costs of the design, migration and testing of technology platform. This 

resulting asset will be amortised on a systematic basis over the life of the contract period. The entity expects 

to provide services relating to the technology platform. The contracts assets were impacted by the 

acquisition of Astute One (refer note 15) and the closing balance at 31 March 2020 includes $326,751 of 

Astute One contract assets. 
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Note 7. Revenue (continued) 

 

Contract liabilities 

 

 Current     

 Contract liabilities – advances received 154,910  36,309  

 Non-Current     

 Contract liabilities – advances received 446,315  216,797  

 

The contract liabilities primarily relate to the advanced consideration received as initial set up fees from first 

time customers. Revenue is recognised on a systematic basis over the life of the contract period. The 

contracts liabilities were impacted by the acquisition of Astute One (refer note 15) and the closing balance at 

31 March 2020 includes $165,529 of Astute One contract liabilities. 

 

Note 8. Income Tax Expense 

Recognition and measurement 

The income tax expense for the period comprises current tax expense and deferred tax expense. 

 

Current tax 

Current tax assets/liabilities are measured at the amounts expected to be recovered/to be paid to/from the 

relevant taxation authority. 

 

Deferred tax 
Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances 
during the period as well as unused tax losses. 
 
Except for business combinations, no deferred income tax is recognised from the initial recognition of an asset 
or liability, where there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss. 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled and their measurement also reflects the manner in which 
management expects to recover or settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability. With respect to 
non-depreciable items of property, plant and equipment measured at fair value and items of investment 
property measured at fair value, the related deferred tax liability or deferred tax asset is measured on the 
basis that the carrying amount of the asset will be recovered entirely through sale.  
 
Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset 
can be utilised. 

 

Offsetting balances 

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended 

that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where: (i) a legally enforceable right of set-off exists; and (ii) the 

deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the 

same taxable entity or different taxable entities where it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous 

realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in future periods in which significant 

amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled. 
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Note 8. Income Tax Expense (continued) 

 

(a) Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable 

 Consolidated 

 2020  2019 

 $  $ 

Restated 

Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense 2,139,720  1,564,419 

Prima facie domestic effective tax rate of 27.5%   (588,423)  (430,215) 

Adjustment for tax-rate differences in foreign jurisdictions 83,428  82,801 

Under-provision of tax in prior year 

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in 

calculating taxable income: 

15,702   

Other non-deductible expenses (18,789)  (8,038) 

    Withholding Tax 

  Current period tax losses not recognised 

              3,798 

           438,575  

 - 

390,279 

Income tax (benefit)/expense (65,709)  34,827 
 

 

Carried forward tax losses of $9,122,309 have not brought to account as a deferred tax asset.  Based on the 

value of tax losses incurred, the directors’ have formed an opinion that the business was not in a position to 

satisfy the criteria for recognising these losses as a deferred tax asset.  These losses remain available for the 

Group to use in the future. 

Under normal circumstances, the benefits of deferred tax losses not brought to account can only be realised 

in the future if: 

• assessable income is derived of a nature, and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit 

from the deductions to be realised 

• conditions for deductibility imposed by law are complied with; and  

• no changes in tax legislation adversely affect the realisation of the benefit from the deductions. 

The directors on a regular basis will assess the recognition of the deferred tax assets. 

 

(b) Franking credits 

 Consolidated 

 2020  2019 

 $  $ 

Franked dividends -  - 

Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based 

on a tax rate of 27.5% 

7,250  - 

 7,250  - 
 

 

 

 

 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



  

 

 

 

PayGroup Limited | Annual report | 31 March 2020     Page 41 

 

Note 8. Income Tax Expense (continued) 

 

Key estimate and judgment: Taxation 

The Group has exposure to income taxes in the countries where it operates. Significant judgment is involved 
in determining the Group provision for income taxes. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues 
based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is 
different from the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and 
deferred tax provision in the financial year in which the determination is made. 

 

AASB Interpretation 23: Uncertainty over income tax treatments 

AASB Interpretation 23 clarifies the application of recognition and measurement requirements of AASB 112: 
Income Taxes where there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The Interpretation specifically 
addresses: 

- Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments collectively or separately; 

- That the entity should assume a tax authority will examine the uncertain tax treatments and have full 
knowledge of all relevant information; 

- That the entity should reflect the uncertainty in its accounts where it concludes that it is not probable 
that the tax authorities will accept the treatment adopted; 

- That the impact of the uncertainty should be measured using either the most likely amount or the 
expected value method, depending on which method best predicts the resolution of the uncertainty; 
and 

- That the judgements and estimates must be re-assessed whenever there is a change in 
circumstance or new information that affects the judgements. 

The Group has assessed the impact of AASB Interpretation 23 on the financial statements. The assessment 
concluded that the Interpretation did not have a material impact on the financial statements. Consequently, no 
retrospective adjustment is required. 

 

Note 9. Financial assets and financial liabilities 

 

This note provides information about the group’s financial instruments, including:   

• an overview of all financial instruments held by the group  

• specific information about each type of financial instrument   

• accounting policies   

• information about determining the fair value of the instruments, including judgements and estimation 

uncertainty involved.   

The group’s exposure to various risks associated with the financial instruments is discussed in note 14. The 

maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of 

financial assets mentioned below. 
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Note 9. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 

(a) Cash and cash equivalents 

Recognition and measurement 

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 

include cash on hand, deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an insignificant risk of 

change in value, and bank overdrafts.  Bank overdrafts are presented as current borrowings on the 

balance sheet. For cash subjected to restriction, assessment is made on the economic substance of the 

restriction and whether they meet the definition of cash and cash equivalents.  

 Consolidated 

 2020  2019 

 $  $ 

Cash at bank 1,964,816  1,426,142 

Cash on hand 2,787  2,606 

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 1,967,603  1,428,748 

Restricted client monies* 7,073,847  4,918,616 

 9,041,450  6,347,364 
 

*The cash and cash equivalents disclosed above include $7,073,847 (2019: $4,918,616) which are held in a separate 

bank account held by the Group. These client monies are restricted for the purpose of payment of salaries to their 

employees, as part of payroll processing services and are therefore not available for general use by the Group. Refer 

to note 9c for the corresponding liability account. The client money is not included in the statement of cash flows. The 

comparative period statement of cash flows is reclassified to conform with the presentation in the current year. 
 

(b) Trade and other receivables 

Recognition and measurement 

Trade and other receivables include amounts due from customers for goods sold and services performed 

in the ordinary course of business. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months after the 

reporting period are classified as current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets.  

Trade and other receivables are recognised when the Group becomes party to a contractual provision. 

They are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial assets expire, or 

when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards are transferred. 

Trade and other receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate 

method, less any loss allowance.  

The Group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables and records 

a loss allowance at the amount equal to the expected lifetime credit losses.  In using this practical 

expedient, the Group uses its historical experience, external indicators and forward-looking information to 

calculate the expected credit losses. 

Resource Management Asset 

The Group provides labour resources to clients as part of its resource management solution, where these 

labour resources are employed within the Group. The Group recognises this arrangement as an agency 

relationship and therefore nets off the staffing costs against the associated fee raised under the 

contractual relationship and provided to the client.  Revenue recognised is the service fee as defined 

within the contractual arrangements associated with providing labour to the client. The value of unbilled or 

outstanding fees associated with the provision of labour resources is recognised as a Resource 

Management Asset and fully supported by the underlying contractual terms. The Group holds an 

unconditional right to the Resource Management Asset.  Any unpaid employee obligations associated 

with Resource Management are recorded with the Resource Management Liability, and recorded within 

Trade and Other Payables. 
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Note 9. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

(b)  Trade and other receivables (continued) 

 

Key estimate and judgment: Trade receivable loss allowance 

The Group evaluates whether there is any objective evidence in relation to historical experience, external 

indicators and forward-looking indicators that indicate a loss allowance is required and determines an 

appropriate loss allowance.  If the financial condition of the customers were to deteriorate over and above 

the objective evidence obtained, actual write offs would be higher than estimated. 

 Consolidated 

 2020  2019 

    CURRENT $  $ 

Trade receivables 3,291,399  2,982,065 

Less: allowance for credit losses (158,505)  (100,348) 

 3,132,894  2,881,717 

Resource management asset 473,182  2,150,284 

Other receivables 243,785  262,137 

 3,849,861  5,294,138 
 

NON-CURRENT    

Other receivables 322,187  287,402 

 322,187  287,402 
 

 

Impairment and risk exposure 

The Group applies the AASB 9 simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses for all trade 

receivables as these items do not have a significant financing component. In measuring the expected credit 

losses, the trade receivables have been assessed on a collective basis as they possess shared credit risk 

characteristics. They have been grouped based on the days past due and also according to the geographical 

location of customers. The expected loss rates are based on the historical payment profile as well as the 

corresponding historical credit losses during that period. The historical rates are adjusted to reflect current and 

forwarding looking macroeconomic factors affecting the customer’s ability to settle the amount outstanding. 

The group has identified gross domestic product (GDP) and unemployment rates of the countries in which the 

customers are domiciled to be the most relevant factors and according adjusts historical loss rates for 

expected changes in these factors. However given the short period exposed to credit risk, the impact of these 

macroeconomic factors has not been considered significant within the reporting period. 

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the group’s exposure to credit risk are tabled 

below: 

 Consolidated 

 2020  2019 

Past due loans and receivables $  $ 

Past due under 30 days 1,133,122  1,031,808 

Past due 30 days to under 60 days 198,178  201,971 

Past due 60 days to under 90 days 61,240  59,412 

Past due 90 days and over 533,272  333,248 

Total past due loans and receivables 1,925,812  1,626,439 

Total loans and receivables 3,849,861  5,294,138 

Expected credit loss per the allowance for impairment matrix 158,505  100,348 

Expected credit loss (%), net 4%  2% 
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Note 9. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

(b)  Trade and other receivables (continued) 

 

 2020  2019 

 $  $ 

Reconciliation of allowance for impairment    

Opening balance 100,348  - 

Acquired as part of the PayAsia acquisition 29 May 2018 -  186,442 

Acquired as part of Astute acquisition 1 Nov 2019 50,049   

Additional expected credit loss allowance  75,982  26,048 

Receivables written off, net (67,874)  (112,142) 

Closing balance 158,505  100,348 
 

 

(c) Trade and Other Payables 

Recognition and measurement 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the 

financial period which are unpaid. The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are assumed to be 

the same as their fair values due to their short term nature.   

Resource Management Liability 

The Group provides staff to clients as part of its resource management solution, where these staff 

resources are employed within the Group. The Group recognises this arrangement as an agency 

relationship and therefore nets off the staffing costs against the associated fee provided to the client.  

Where the Group has a liability to its employees under this arrangement for unpaid wages, salaries and 

associated on costs, this is recognised as a Resource Management Liability. 

 Consolidated 

 2020  2019 

CURRENT $  $ 

Trade payables 1,093,349  400,947 

Advances of client's monies (note 9a) 7,073,847  4,918,616 

Resource management liability 793,980  3,389,956 

Accruals 1,333,296  583,780 

GST/VAT/SST payable 929,307  491,987 

Other payables 1,338,477  253,184 

 12,562,256  10,038,470 
 

 

(d) Borrowings 
 

Recognition and measurement 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 

subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between 

the proceeds and the redemption value is recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the period of 

borrowings using the effective interest rate.   

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 

settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. The group has  

borrowings of $7,171 at 31 March 2020 (nil at 31 March 2019). 
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Note 9. Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

 

(e) Other assets 

 

 Consolidated 

 2020  2019 

Other current assets $  $ 

   Deposits on leasehold properties 351,964  218,725 

   GST receivables 158,903  173,075 

 510,867  391,800 
 

 

Note 10. Non-financial assets and financial liabilities 

 

This note provides information about the group's non-financial assets and liabilities, including:   

• specific information about each type of non-financial asset and non-financial liability 

- property, plant and equipment (note 10(a)) 

- intangible asset (note 10(b)) 

- deferred tax balances (note 10(c)) 

- provisions and employee benefit obligations (note 10(d))  

• accounting policies   

• information about determining the fair value of the assets and liabilities, including judgements and 

estimation uncertainty involved.   

   

(a) Property, plant and equipment 

Recognition and measurement 

Plant & equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairments. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the cost over their expected useful lives. 

The estimated useful lives are as follows: 

 

Leasehold improvements 5 years 

Renovation 3 years 

Furniture & fittings 3 years 

Office equipment 3 - 10 years 

Computers 3 years 

Fully depreciated plant & equipment are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use. 

The residual values and useful lives of plant & equipment are reviewed at the end of each financial year end 

and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

Plant and equipment are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that 

these assets maybe impaired. 
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Note 10. Non-financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

(a)  Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 

Impairment of assets  

Plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment wherever there is any indication that these assets may be 

impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount (ie the higher of the fair value less costs to sell 

and value in use) of the asset is estimated to determine the amount of impairment loss.  

 

For the purpose of impairment testing of these assets, recoverable amount is determined on an individual 

basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. 

If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit (CGU) to which the asset 

belongs.  

 

If the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 

amount of the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount.  

 

The impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the 

estimate used to determine the assets recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 

The carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided 

that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation 

or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of impairment 

loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

 

 

Key estimation uncertainty: Depreciation 

Plant and equipment are depreciated and amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives, 

after taking into account the estimated residual value. The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of the 

assets regularly in order to determine the amount of depreciation expense to be recorded during any reporting 

period. Any changes in the economic useful lives or residual values could impact the depreciation charges 

and consequently affect the Group's results. 

 

Key estimation uncertainty: Impairment of non-financial assets 

Plant and equipment are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that 

these assets maybe impaired. 

 

The recoverable amount of these assets and, where applicable, cash generating units, have been determined 

based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates. Estimating the value in 

use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash generating unit 

(or group of cash generating units) and also to use many estimates and assumptions such as future market 

growth, forecast revenue and costs, useful lives and utilisation of the assets, discount rates and other factors. 
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Note 10. Non-financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

(a)  Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 

 

 Leasehold 

Improvements 

& Renovations 

Office 

Equipment 

Furniture 

& Fittings Computers Total 

Cost      

Balance 1 April 2018 - - - - - 

Acquired as part of the Pay 

Asia Pte Ltd acquisition 29 

May 20181 169,343 147,704 6,687 14,941 338,675 

Acquired as part of the Pay 

Asia Management Pvt Ltd 

acquisition 28 Feb 20191 - 33,302 207,190 66,633 307,125 

Additions - 10,184 996 29,076 40,256 

Balance 31 March 2019 169,343 191,190 214,873 110,650 686,056 

      

 

Balance 1 April 2019 

169,343 191,190 214,873 110,650 686,056 

Additions 55,229 41,581 - 61,622 158,432 

Balance 31 March 2020 224,572 232,771 214,873 172,272 844,488 

Accumulated amortisation      

Balance 1 April 2018 - - - - - 

Acquired as part of the Pay 

Asia Pte Ltd acquisition 29 

May 20181 126,740 95,087 4,028 5,492 231,347 

Acquired as part of the Pay 

Asia Management Pvt Ltd 

acquisition 28 Feb 20191 - 27,861 183,869 59,041 270,771 

Charge for the year 14,858 22,553 1,368 8,192 46,971 

Balance 31 March 2019 141,598 145,501 189,265 72,725 549,089 

      

Balance 1 April 2019 141,598 145,501 189,265 72,725 549,089 

Charge for the year 39,258 24,054 24,696 25,457 113,465 

Balance 31 March 2020 180,856 169,555 213,961 98,182 662,554 

Net Book Value      

Balance at 31 March 2019 27,745 45,689 25,608 37,925 136,967 

Balance at 31 March 2020 43,716 63,216 912 74,090 181,934 

(1) Refer Note 15 for further details. 

 

(b) Intangibles 

Recognition and measurement 

Intangible assets include the Group’s aggregate amount spent on the acquisition of computer software and 

development costs.  Intangible assets with finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and impairment losses.  They are amortised in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over their 

estimated useful lives.  The Group has adopted an estimated useful life ranging between 5 - 10 years. The 

useful life is measured from the date on which they are available for use. 

 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised and are measured at cost less impairment 

losses. 
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Note 10. Non-financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

(b)  Intangibles (continued) 

 

The useful life is determined by management at the time the software is acquired and brought into use and is 

regularly reviewed for appropriateness. For computer software licences, the useful life represents 

management’s view of the expected term over which the Group will receive benefits from the software, but not 

exceeding the licence term. For unique software products controlled by the Group, the life is based on 

historical experience with similar products as well as anticipation of future events which may impact their life 

such as changes in technology. Historically changes in useful lives have not resulted in material changes to 

the Group’s amortisation charge. 

 

Goodwill 

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is included in intangible assets. 

Goodwill is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is calculated as the excess of 

the sum of: 

i) the consideration transferred; 

ii) any non-controlling interest (determined under either the full goodwill or proportionate interest 

method); and 

iii) the acquisition date fair value of any previously held equity interest; 

over the acquisition date fair value of net identifiable assets acquired. 

Goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment annually and are 

allocated to the Group's cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units, representing the lowest 

level at which goodwill is monitored and not larger than an operating segment. Gains and losses on the 

disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill related to the entity disposed of. 

 

Impairment of assets  

Intangibles are reviewed for impairment wherever there is any indication that these assets may be impaired. If 

any such indication exists, the recoverable amount (ie the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value 

in use) of the asset is estimated to determine the amount of impairment loss.  

 

For the purpose of impairment testing of these assets, recoverable amount is determined on an individual 

basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. 

If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating unit (CGU) to which the asset 

belongs.  

 

If the recoverable amount of the asset or CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 

amount of the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount.  

 

The impairment loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the 

estimate used to determine the assets recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 

The carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided 

that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation 

or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of  

impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
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Note 10. Non-financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

(b)  Intangibles (continued) 

 

Critical accounting estimates: Capitalisation of intangibles 

Costs directly attributable to the development of computer software are capitalised as intangible assets when 

the Group judges that the technical feasibility of the project is demonstrated, the Group has the intention and 

ability to complete and use the software and the cost can be measured reliably. Such costs include purchases 

of materials and services and payroll related costs of employees directly involved in the project. Research 

costs are recognised as an expense when incurred. 

 

Key estimation uncertainty: Amortisation 

Intangibles are depreciated and amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives, after taking 

into account the estimated residual value. Changes in the expected level of use and technological 

developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these asset, therefore future 

amortisation charges could be revised.  

 

Key estimation uncertainty: Impairment of non-financial assets 

Intangibles are tested for impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that these assets 

maybe impaired. 
 

The recoverable amount of these assets and, where applicable, cash generating units, have been determined 

based on value in use calculations. These calculations require the use of estimates. Estimating the value in 

use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash generating unit 

(or group of cash generating units) and also to use many estimates and assumptions such as future market 

growth, forecast revenue and costs, useful lives and utilisation of the assets, discount rates and other factors. 
 

 

Goodwill 

(Restated) 

Software 

(Restated) 

Software 

under 

development 

Customer 

contracts and 

relationships 

(Restated) 

Trademark 

and 

tradename Total 

(Restated) 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Cost       

Balance 1 April 2018 - - - - - - 

Acquired as part of the 
PayAsia acquisition 29 May 
2018 (1) 

- 1,481,393 55,641 - - 1,537,034 

Acquired as part of the Pay 

Asia Management Pvt Ltd 

acquisition 28 Feb 2019 (1) 

30,506 56,368 - - - 86,874 

Additions - - 601,445 - - 601,445 

Reclassification - 124,466 (124,466) - - - 

       
Balance 31 March 2019 30,506 1,662,227 532,620 - - 2,225,353 

Restatement based on final 

purchase price allocation of the 

Pay Asia Management Pvt Ltd 

28 Feb 2019 (1) 

 

 

 

(30,506) 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

 

210,034 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

 

179,528 

Restated balance 31 March 

2019 

- 1,662,227 532,620 210,034 - 2,404,881 

       

Acquired as part of Astute 

acquisition 1 Nov 2019 (1) 

1,688,511 6,300,000 - 1,000,000 200,000 9,188,511 

Additions - 14,120 2,144,221 - - 2,158,341 

Reclassification - 1,329,527 (1,329,527) - - - 
       

Balance 31 March 2020 1,688,511 9,305,874 1,347,314 1,210,034 200,000 13,751,733 
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Note 10. Non-financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

(b)  Intangibles (continued) 

 

Goodwill 

(Restated) 

Software 

(Restated) 

Software 

under 

development 

Customer 

contracts and 

relationships 

(Restated) 

Trademark 

and 

tradename Total 

(Restated) 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Accumulated amortisation       

Balance 1 April 2018 - - -   - 

Acquired as part of the 

PayAsia acquisition 29 May 

2018 (1) 

- 639,554 -   639,554 

Acquired as part of the Pay 

Asia Management Pvt Ltd 

acquisition 28 Feb 2019 (1) 

- 52,631 -   52,631 

Charge for the year - 240,813 -   240,813 

Balance 31 March 2019 - 932,998 -   932,998 

       

Balance 1 April 2019 - 932,998 -   932,998 

Charge for the year - 695,758 - 143,259 16,667 855,684 
       

Balance 31 March 2020 - 1,628,756 - 143,259 16,667 1,788,682 
       

Net Book Value       

Restated balance at 31 March 

2019 

-    729,229 532,620 210,034 - 1,471,883 

Balance at 31 March 2020 1,688,511(2) 7,677,118 1,347,314 1,066,775 183,333 11,963,051 
 

 

(1) Refer Note 15 for further details. 

(2) The aggregate carrying amount of indefinite life intangible assets comprises of goodwill which has been allocated to Astute CGU. The 

management has not considered to perform annual impairment testing on indefinite life intangible assets since these were recently valued as 

part of the purchase price allocation of the Astute One acquisition (refer note 15). 

 

(c) Deferred tax asset/ (liability) balances 

The balance comprises temporary difference attributable to: Consolidated 

 2020  2019 

 $  $ 

Plant and Equipment 60,305  (11,437) 

Employee benefits 20,310  23,621 

Other -  (94,319) 

Deferred tax asset/(liability) 80,615  (82,135) 
 

 

(d) Provisions 

Recognition and measurement 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past 

event, it is probable the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of 

the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration 

required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 

surrounding the obligation. If the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current 

pre tax rate specific to the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is 

recognised as a finance cost. 

As at the reporting date, there were no material claims or disputes of a contingent nature against the Group 

and its subsidiaries. 
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Note 10. Non-financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

(d)  Provisions (continued) 

 

Employee benefit obligations 

The current portion of this liability includes all of the accrued annual leave and the unconditional entitlements 

to long service leave where employees have completed the required period of service. 

Defined contribution plan 

The Group contributes to the statutory provident fund as per Pay Asia Management Pvt Ltd’s Employees’ 

Provident Funds and Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 1952 and Employee’s State Insurance Scheme as per the 

Employees’ State Insurance Act, 1948.  

Gratuity 

Gratuity is a post employment benefit and is a defined benefit plan taken up in Pay Asia Management Pvt Ltd. 

The liability recognised in the Balance Sheet represents the present value of the defined benefit obligation at 

the Balance Sheet date less the fair value of plan assets (if any), together with adjustments for unrecognised 

actuarial gains or losses and past service costs. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to past 

service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan. 

Independent actuaries using the Projected unit credit method calculate the defined benefit obligation annually. 

Actuarial gains or losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 

credited or charged to the Other Comprehensive Income in the year in which such gains or losses arises. 

Short-term employee benefits  

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave 

expected to be settled wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to 

be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

 

Other long-term employee benefits 

The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the 

reporting date are measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of 

services provided by the employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. 

Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and 

periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on high 

quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 

future cash outflows. 

 Consolidated 

 2020  2019 

CURRENT $  $ 

Provision for leave 543,207  3,630 

Provision for gratuity     

   Internal employees (i) 4,770  3,967 

   Temporary employees (ii) 21,229  18,395 

 569,206  25,992 

NON-CURRENT    

Provision for leave 14,123  - 

Provision for gratuity    

   Internal employees (i) 70,953  67,870 

   Temporary employees (ii) 287,542  258,175 

Provision for make-good 100,274  - 

 472,892  326,045 
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Note 10. Non-financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

(d)  Provisions (continued) 

 

Movement in provision for make-good is as follows 

 Consolidated 

 2020  2019 

 $  $ 

Opening balance -  - 

Charged to profit or loss 100,274  - 

Balance at 31 March 100,274  - 
 

 

 

(i) Gratuity for internal employees 

  Consolidated 

  2020  2019 

  $  $ 

 Amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet are as follows:     

 Present value of the obligation as at the end of the year     

 Net liability recognised in the balance sheet 75,723  71,837  

      

 Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation:    

 Opening balance 71,837  -  

 Defined benefit obligation acquired as part of the Pay Asia Management 

Pvt Ltd acquisition 28 Feb 2019 

-  67,044  

 Current service cost 15,987  3,042  

 Interest cost 5,779  685  

 Net actuarial (gain) recognised for the year (18,988)  1,867  

 Foreign exchange loss on translation 4,355  -  

 Net outflow (3,247)  (801)  

 Defined benefit obligation as at the end of the year 75,723  71,837  

      

(i) Gratuity for internal employees 

 The amounts recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 

are as follows: 

 

 Service cost 15,987  3,042  

 Interest cost 5,779  685  

 Net actuarial (gain)/loss recognised for the year (18,988)  1,867  

 Expenses recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss and Other 

Comprehensive Income 

 

2,778 

  

5,594 

 

 Experience adjustments:     

 Amounts for experience adjustments for defined benefit plans for the 

current period are as follows: 

    

 Defined benefit obligation 75,723  71,837  

 (Deficit) (75,723)  (71,837)  

 Experience adjustments on plan liabilities (3,282)  (1,888)  
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Note 10. Non-financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

(d)  Provisions (continued) 

 
 

(ii) Gratuity for temporary employees 

 Amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet are as follows:     

 Present value of the obligation as at the end of the year     

 Net liability recognised in the balance sheet 308,771  276,570  
      

 Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligation:    

 Opening balance 276,570  -  

 Defined benefit obligation acquired as part of the Pay Asia Management 

Pvt Ltd acquisition 28 Feb 2019 

-  258,115  

 Current service cost 140,286  21,974  

 Interest cost 22,130  2,302  

 Foreign exchange loss on translation 16,765  -  

 Benefits paid (5,820)  (989)  

 Net actuarial (gain) recognised for the year (141,160)  (4,832)  

 Defined benefit obligation as at the end of the year 308,771  276,570  
      

 

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income are as 

follows: 

 Service cost 140,286  21,974  

 Interest cost 22,130  2,302  

 Net actuarial (gain) recognised for the year (141,160)  (4,832)  

 Expenses recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss and Other 

Comprehensive Income 

 

21,256 

  

19,444 

 

 

(ii) Gratuity for temporary employees 

 Experience adjustments:     

  Consolidated  

  2020  2019  

 Amounts for experience adjustments for defined benefit plans for the 

current period are as follows: 

$  $  

 Defined benefit obligation 308,771  276,570  

 (Deficit) (308,771)  (276,570)  

 Experience adjustments on plan liabilities (93,271)  (72,878)  

 

Assumptions used in the valuations of gratuity for the year ended 31 March 2020 are as below: 

 

 Internal 

Employees 

2020 

Internal 

Employees 

2019 

Temporary 

employees 

2020 

Temporary 

employees 

2019 

Discount rate 6.72% 7.75% 6.88% 7.62% 

Future salary increase 7% 10% 7% 10% 

Attrition rate 15% 15% 28% 28% 

Retirement age 60 60 58 58 
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Note 11. Equity 

 

(a) Share capital 

 2020 2019 

 Shares $ Shares $ 

Ordinary Shares – fully paid 68,894,010 36,213,927 51,671,466 24,076,417 
 

 

Recognition and measurement 

Ordinary fully paid shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 

shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.  

All issued ordinary shares are fully paid. Holders of these shares are entitled to dividends as declared from 

time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of the Group. All ordinary shares rank 

equally with regard to the Group's residual assets. 

 

Movements in ordinary share capital 

Details Date Shares Issue Price $ 

Opening balance 1 Apr 2018  2,417,452  287,601 

Shares issued – initial public offering 29 May 2018 17,000,000 $0.50 8,500,000 

Cost attributable to raising capital - - - (838,191) 

Shares issued pursuant to share swap 

arrangement 

 

29 May 2018 

 

32,254,014 

 

$0.50 

 

16,127,007 

Balance 31 March 2019  51,671,466  24,076,417 

     

Balance at 1 April 2019  51,671,466  24,076,417 

Shares issued pursuant to Astute 

acquisition 

14 Nov 2019 12,764,706 $0.72 9,190,588 

Shares issued – capital raise 27 Nov 2019 4,285,714 $0.70 3,000,000 

Shares issued to settle supplier payment 27 Nov 2019 108,553 $0.76 82,500 

Shares issued to settle supplier payment 7 Jan 2020 63,571 $0.70 44,500 

Cost attributable to raising capital - - - (180,078) 

Balance 31 March 2020  68,894,010  36,213,927 
 

 

(b) Reserves 

 

Share-based payment reserve 

The share-based payment reserve is used to recognise: 

• the fair value of options issued to Directors and employees which have not been exercised; 

• the fair value of shares issued to Directors and employees; and 

• other share-based payment transactions. 

The cost of shares and options over shares issued to Directors and employees are measured as set out in the 

audited remuneration report. 
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Note 11. Equity (continued) 

 

Foreign currency translation reserve 

It comprises foreign currency translation differences arising on the translation of financial statements of the 

Group’s foreign entities into $AUD. 

 

 Consolidated 

 2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

Share based payment reserve  216,904 216,904 

Retention shares receivable reserve(1) (601,427) - 

Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined benefit plan 160,108 - 

Foreign currency translation reserve (586,205) (194,047) 

Reserves pursuant to share swap acquisition of PayAsia (16,698,676) (16,698,676) 

 (17,509,296) (16,675,819) 

(1) Retention shares receivable reserve represents shares receivable pursuant to the working capital adjustment under the terms of the Astute Share 

Purchase Agreement. The working capital adjustment represents the shortfall of the working capital acquired over the target working capital of 

$150,000 

 

Share-based payment recognition and measurement 

Equity settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees and directors.  

 

Equity settled transactions are awards of shares, or employee loan share plans, that are provided to 

employees and directors in exchange for the rendering of services.  

 

The cost of equity settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date.  

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity 

over the vesting period.  The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair 

value of the award, the best estimate of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of 

the vesting period. The amount recognised in profit or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated 

at each reporting date less amounts already recognised in previous periods. 

On the 23 February 2018 the Directors and senior employees were invited to apply for Plan Shares under the 
Loan Share Plan.  A limited recourse loan was provided to allow the Directors and senior employees to 
purchase the Plan Shares at the Company’s Initial Public Offering price of $0.50 per share, pursuant to the 
terms of the loan agreement.  The Plan Shares are subject to voluntary escrow conditions of 24 months from 
date of issues and vest on issue. 

The Plan aims to recognise long-term performance by rewarding the Directors and key management with 
Performance Shares which will allow them to share in the growth in value of the Company. 

Each Performance Share is an ordinary share in PayGroup Limited and are only subject to voluntary escrow 
conditions. 

Key estimation uncertainty: Fair value of share-based payment transactions 

The fair value of share-based payment transactions was determined using a binomial pricing model. The 

model requires certain inputs in order to determine an appropriate fair value.  These inputs include share price 

at grant date, risk free rate, volatility factor, exercise price, time to maturity and expected dividend yield. 
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Note 11. Equity (continued) 

 

There were no shares issued under the Loan Share Plan in the current year.  

In the prior year, shares issued pursuant to the Loan Share Plan were as follows: 

 

Name Issue Date Shares 
Issued 

Issue 
Price 

Loan Balance 
$ 

Fair Value 
$ 

Ian Basser 23 Feb 2018 301,302 $0.50 150,651 37,000 

David Fagan 23 Feb 2018 222,964 $0.50 111,482 27,425 

Franck Neron- Bancel 23 Feb 2018 222,964 $0.50 111,482 27,4251 

Sachin Goklaney 23 Feb 2018 257,217 $0.50 128,608 31,6381 

Chris Brunton 23 Feb 2018 257,217 $0.50 128,608 31,6381 

Srinivas Rao 23 Feb 2018 134,773 $0.50 67,387 16,5771 

Elana Austria 23 Feb 2018 86,567 $0.50 43,283 10,6471 

Dawn Lim 23 Feb 2018 86,567 $0.50 43,283 10,6471 

Aiden Liew 23 Feb 2018 86,566 $0.50 43,283 10,6471 

Chris Cheah 23 Feb 2018 35,000 $0.50 17,500 4,3051 

Justin Owen 23 Feb 2018 72,313 $0.50 36,156 8,894 

     216,904 

1 The expense associated with these loan shares was taken up by PayAsia as a pre-acquisition expense and totalled $143,525. The balance, $73,379 was 

recognised by the Group. 

The fair value of the Loan Share Plan was calculated using the Binomial pricing model using inputs as noted 
below.  As the shares vested immediately the full value of $216,904 ($0.123 per Loan Share) has been 
accounted for in the share based payment reserve, with the expense recognised within the entity where the 
employee is contracted.  

The above fair value calculation was based upon the following inputs: 

Share price at grant date $0.40 

Risk free rate 2.38% 

Volatility factor 40% 

Exercise Price $0.50 

Time to maturity 5 years 

Expected dividend yield 6.2% 
 

  Consolidated  

  2020  2019  

 Share based payment expense $  $  

    Equity settled transactions 127,000  8,333  

    Employee Share Plan -  -  

  127,000  8,333  

 

 

 

F
or

 p
er

so
na

l u
se

 o
nl

y



  

 

 

 

PayGroup Limited | Annual report | 31 March 2020     Page 57 

 

Note 12. Earnings per share and dividends 

 

(a) Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share  

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of PayGroup Limited, 

excluding any cost of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of 

ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued 

during the financial year.  

Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share adjust the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take 

into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 

ordinary shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no 

consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 2020 2019 

 Shares $ Shares $ 

Ordinary Shares – fully paid 68,894,010 36,213,927 51,671,466 24,076,417 
 

 

Reconciliation of earnings used and the weighted average number of shares for the purposes of diluted 

earnings per share to the weighted average number of ordinary shares used in the calculation of basic 

earnings per share is as follows: 

 

 2020 2019 

Restated 

 $ $ 

Earnings per share from continuing operations   

Loss after income tax (basic) (2,074,011) (1,599,246) 

Loss after income tax (diluted) (2,074,011) (1,599,246)  

Weighted average number of shares used in calculating basic 

earnings per share 

58,049,935 43,709,858 

Basic earnings / (loss) per share (cents per share) (3.57) (3.66) 

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share (cents per share) (3.57) (3.66) 
 

(b) Dividends 

No dividend was paid for the year ended 31 March 2020.   

A total unfranked dividend of $750,000 (1.45 cents/share) was paid on 30 July, 2018 (Record date – 10 

July, 2018) and dividend of $253,062 (SGD250,000) was paid to the founding shareholders of PayGroup 

from pre-acquisition retained earnings for the period ended 31 March 2019.  

 

Note 13. Capital Management policies and procedures 

 

The Group’s objective when managing capital is to: 

• Safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that they can provide returns to 

shareholders; and 

• Maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 
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Note 13. Capital Management policies and procedures (continued) 

 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.  

For the purpose of analysis the Group defines capital as fully paid ordinary shares 

 

(a) Borrowings 

Recognition and measurement 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 

subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Any difference between 

the proceeds and the redemption value is recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the period of 

borrowings using the effective interest rate. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 

settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. The group has no 

borrowings as at 31 March 2020. 

 

Note 14. Financial instrument risk 

 

Risk management objectives and policies 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk and 

interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the 

unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial 

performance of the Group. The Group uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is 

exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other 

price risks, ageing analysis for credit risk. 

(a) Market risk analysis 

Foreign currency risk 

The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and is exposed to foreign 

currency risk through foreign exchange rate fluctuations. 

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and 

financial liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The risk is 

measured using sensitivity analysis and cash flow forecasting.  

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate as 

a result of changes in market interest rates. 

The table below outlines the variance interest rate on cash at bank. 

 Consolidated 

 2020  2019  

 Weighted 

average 

interest 

rate 

Balance Weighted 

average 

interest 

rate 

Balance 

 % $ % $ 

Cash at bank 0.34%  9,041,450  0.34% 6,347,364 

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate 

risk 

 

9,041,450  6,347,364 
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Note 14. Financial instrument risk (continued) 

 

Sensitivity analysis 

A change by 10% in existing interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/decreased equity 

and profit/loss for the period by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables 

remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the comparative period. 

Impact on profit/loss for the period 

 Consolidated 

 2020  2019 

 $  $ 

Increase in interest rates +10%  3,074   2,158 

Decrease in interest rates -10%  (3,074)  (2,158) 
 

 

(b) Credit risk analysis 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party 

by failing to discharge an obligation. The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any 

collateral or other security, at balance date of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those 

assets, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the consolidated statement of 

financial position and notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as 

credit exposures to customers including receivables and committed transactions. 

 

Trade receivables 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis through regular review of ageing 

analysis. Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.  

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers in various industries and geographical areas. 

The Group does not hold any security on the trade receivables balance.  

The Group applies the AASB 9 simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses for all trade 

receivables as these items do not have a significant financing component. 

In measuring the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been assessed on a collective basis as 

they possess shared credit characteristics.  They have been grouped based on days past due. 

Refer to Note 9(b) for further information of impairment and risk exposure. 

The Group does not have any significant credit risk to any single counterparty given the large number of 

customers. 

 

(c)  Liquidity risk analysis 

Prudent liquidity risk management requires the Group to maintain sufficient liquid assets and available 

borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable. 

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and by continuously monitoring 

actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 

Amounts presented below represent the future undiscounted principal and interest cash flows. 
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Note 14. Financial instrument risk (continued) 

 

Maturity analysis 

2020 1 year or 

less 

Between 

1 and 2 

years 

Between 

2 and 5 

years 

Over 5 

years 

Remaining 

contractual 

maturities 

Non-interest bearing $ $ $ $ $ 

Trade payables  1,093,349  - - -  1,093,349  

Other payables 9,206,304 - - -  9,206,304 

Accrued expenses  1,333,296  - - -  1,333,296  

Lease liabilities 624,505 582,941 513,333 - 1,720,779 

 12,257,454 582,941 513,333 - 13,353,728 

 

Maturity analysis 

2019 1 year or 

less 

Between 

1 and 2 

years 

Between 

2 and 5 

years 

Over 5 

years 

Remaining 

contractual 

maturities 

Non-interest bearing $ $ $ $ $ 

Trade payables 400,947 - - - 400,947 

Other payables 8,561,756 - - - 8,561,756 

Accrued expenses 583,780 - - - 583,780 

 9,546,483 - - - 9,546,483 

      

The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually 

disclosed above. 

 

Note 15. Business Combinations 

 

Consolidated 2020 

(a) Astute One Limited 

Summary of acquisition 

The Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Astute One Limited and its controlled entities 

(“AstuteOne”), an Australian company. The acquisition significantly increases the range of HCM software 

service modules and further strengthens its workforce management business, whilst allowing deeper 

penetration into the Australian market and provides opportunities for expansion to New Zealand.   

Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows: 

Purchase consideration (refer note below): $ 

     Cash paid 150,000 

     Ordinary shares issued 9,190,588 

     Retention shares receivable (601,427) 

Total purchase consideration 8,739,161 
 

The fair value of the 12,764,706 shares issued at $0.72 as part of the consideration paid for AstuteOne  

was based on the two week value weighted average share price from transaction date. 
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Note 15. Business Combinations (continued) 

 

Retention shares receivable represents shares receivable pursuant to the working capital adjustment 

under the terms of the Astute Share Purchase Agreement. The working capital adjustment represents 

the shortfall of the working capital acquired over the target working capital of $150,000.  

The transaction was undertaken based on the fair value of AstuteOne’s existing assets and liabilities as at 1 Nov 

2019. 

 

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows: 

Description  $ 

Cash and cash equivalents  686,705 

Trade and other receivables  1,140,445 

Contract assets  188,104 

Right-of-use assets  1,102,156 

Intangible assets: 

- Software 

- Customer contracts and relationships 

- Trademarks 

  

6,300,000 

1,000,000 

200,000 

Trade and other payables  (2,360,791) 

Lease liability  (1,084,045) 

Contract liabilities  (121,924) 

Net identifiable assets acquired  7,050,650 

Add: goodwill  1,688,511 

Net assets acquired  8,739,161 
 

 

 

The business combination has initially been accounted for on a provisional basis in accordance with 

AASB 3 Business Combinations. The fair value of assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities 

assumed are initially estimated by the consolidated entity taking into consideration all available 

information at balance date.  The acquisition accounting for this transaction is provisional and as allowed 

under Australian Accounting Standards any adjustments made to these provisional numbers will be 

reflected in future financial periods. Finalisation is expected no later than 30 September 2020.  

The goodwill is attributable to the workforce and the underlying business capability and operational 

performance. It will not be deductible for tax purposes. 

(i) Acquisition related costs 

Acquisition-related costs of $359,872 that were not directly attributable to the issue of shares are 

included in consulting and professional fees in profit or loss and in operating cash flows in the statement 

of cash flows. 

 

(ii) Acquired receivables 

The fair value of acquired trade and other receivables is $ 1,140,445. The gross contractual amount for trade 

receivables due is $ 1,190,494 of which $50,049 is expected to be uncollectible. 

 

(iii) Accounting policy choice 

The group recognises interests at its acquired net identifiable assets.  
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Note 15. Business Combinations (continued) 

 

Purchase consideration – cash inflow 2020 

 $ 

Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, net of cash acquired  

Cash consideration 150,000 

Less: Balances acquired  

   Cash 686,705 

    Restricted client monies (275,171) 

Net inflow of cash – investing activities 261,534 
  

 

(iv) Revenue and profit contribution 

The acquired business contributed revenues of $2,949,693  and net profit of $1,282,972 to the 

Group for the period from 1 November 2019 to 31 March 2020. 

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2019, consolidated pro-forma revenue and profit for the 

year ended 31 March 2020 would have been  $7,586,353 and $2,031,756 respectively. These 

amounts have been calculated using the subsidiary’s results. 

 

Consolidated 2019 

a) Pay Asia Pte Ltd (‘PayAsia’) 

Summary of acquisition 

As detailed in the Group’s prospectus, on 29 May 2018, immediately following the listing of the Group on the 

Australian Stock Exchange (‘ASX’), the Group acquired 100% of the shares in PayAsia via a share swap 

transaction. The acquisition complements the Group’s existing market presence. 

The transaction was undertaken based on the fair value of PayAsia’s existing assets and liabilities as at 29 

May 2018. The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows: 

Description AUD$ 

Cash and cash equivalents 844,033 

Trade and other receivables 1,744,702 

Contract implementation asset 232,651 

Plant and equipment 107,328 

Intangible assets 897,480 

Trade and other payables (3,448,011) 

Deferred implementation revenue (103,193) 

Borrowings (721,795) 

Deferred tax liabilities (124,864) 

Net liabilities acquired (571,669) 
 

 

There will be no goodwill or other intangible assets recognised as part of the acquisition. 

(i) Acquired receivables 

The fair value of acquired trade receivables is $1,744,702. The gross contractual amount for trade 

receivables due is $1,931,144, of which $186,442 is expected to be uncollectible. 
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Note 15. Business Combinations (continued) 

 

(ii) Accounting policy choice 

This acquisition was not deemed an acquisition as per Australian Accounting Standard AASB 3 ‘Business 

Combinations’.  The acquisition has been treated as a pooling of interests whereby the equity of 

PayGroup has been combined with the equity of PayAsia as at the date of acquisition. See note 4d for the 

group’s accounting policies for business combinations. 

(iii) Revenue and profit contribution 

The acquired business contributed revenues of $4,124,651 and net loss of $826,301 to the Group for the 

period from 1 June 2018 to 31 March 2020. 

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2018, consolidated pro-forma revenue and loss for the year 

ended 31 March 2020 would have been $5,783,974 and $2,439,672 respectively. These amounts have 

been calculated using the subsidiary’s results. 

 

Purchase consideration 

No cash was used to acquire PayAsia, with the acquisition undertaken entirely on a share swap basis 

where the company issued 32,254,014 shares to the existing shareholders of PayAsia for 100% of the 

equity in PayAsia. 

Details of the purchase consideration are as follows: 

Name 
Number of shares 

issued 
Escrow period 

from listing date 

Michele Samantha Samlal 22,080,704 24 months 

Lawrence Pushpam 7,051,953 24 months 

Simon Forrester 2,427,722 6 months 

Nancy Chandler Koglmeier 693,635 6 months 

Total 32,254,014  
 

The fair value of the 32,254,014 shares swap as part of the consideration paid for PayAsia 

$16,127,007 was based on an offer price of $0.50 per share as detailed in the Group’s Prospectus 

dated 11 April 2018.  

Further details of the underlying business are detailed in the parent entity’s Prospectus dated 11 April 

2018. 

 

b) Pay Asia Management Pvt Ltd 

Summary of acquisition 

The Group acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Pay Asia Management Pvt Ltd, an India based 

company. The acquisition increased the group’s international market share and complements the group’s 

existing workforce management business . 

Details of the purchase consideration, the net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows: 

Purchase consideration (refer note below): $ 

     Cash paid 644,941 

     Ordinary shares issued - 

Total purchase consideration 644,941 
 

The transaction was undertaken based on the fair value of Pay Asia Management Pvt Ltd’s existing assets 
and liabilities as at 28 Feb 2019. 
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Note 15. Business Combinations (continued) 

 

In 2019, the business combination had initially been accounted for on a provisional basis in accordance with 

AASB 3 Business Combinations. The fair value of assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities 

assumed were initially estimated by the consolidated entity taking into consideration all available information 

at balance date.  The acquisition accounting for this transaction was provisional and as allowed under 

Australian Accounting Standards, any adjustments made to these provisional numbers will be reflected in 

future financial periods. Accounting standards permit a measurement period of up to one year during which 

acquisition accounting can be finalised following the acquisition date. 

The Group has finalised acquisition accounting on the Pay Asia Management Pvt Ltd acquisition. The final 

purchase price allocation resulted in an adjustment to the initial purchase price allocation and a corresponding  

reduction in goodwill. The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows: 

 
 

Description 

Initial purchase 

price allocation 

$ 

Adjustments for final 

purchase price allocation 

$ 

Restated 

balance 

$ 

Cash and cash equivalents 906,960 - 906,960 

Trade and other receivables 3,157,325 - 3,157,325 

Plant and equipment 35,809 - 35,809 

Intangible assets 4,186 - 4,186 

 Customer relationships and customer 

contracts 

 

- 

 

210,034 

 

210,034 

Trade and other payables (3,531,492) - (3,531,492) 

Deferred tax assets 41,647 - 41,647 

Net identifiable assets acquired 614,435 210,034 824,469 

Goodwill 30,506 (30,506) - 

Gain from a bargain purchase - (179,528) (179,528) 

Net assets acquired 644,941 - 644,941 

 

i) Acquired receivables 

The fair value of acquired trade receivables is $3,157,325. The gross contractual amount for trade receivables 
due is $3,157,325, of which $nil is expected to be uncollectible. 

ii) Accounting policy choice 

The group recognises interests at its acquired net identifiable assets. 

iii) Revenue and profit contribution 

The acquired business contributed revenues of $126,350 and net loss of $54,807 to the Group for the period 

from 1 March 2019 to 31 March 2019. 

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2018, consolidated pro-forma revenue and loss for the year ended 
31 March 2019 would have been $772,126  and $25,992 respectively. These amounts have been calculated 
using the subsidiary’s results 
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Note 16. Related party transactions 

 
Related entities 
 
PayGroup Ltd acquired 100% of the issued share capital of Astute One Limited and its controlled entities 
(“AstuteOne”) on 1 November 2019. AstuteOne became a 100% controlled entity at this date. 
 
PayGroup Ltd acquired 100% of the shares in Pay Asia Pte Ltd on 29 May 2018 as part of a share swap 
arrangement.  Pay Asia Pte Ltd became a 100% controlled entity at this date.  
 
Pay Asia Pte Ltd (100% owned subsidiary of PayGroup Ltd) acquired 100% of the shares in Pay Asia 
Management Pvt Ltd on 28 February 2019.  Pay Asia Management Pvt Ltd became a 100% controlled entity 
at this date. 
 
Pay Asia Pte Ltd incorporated a number of subsidiaries within countries where the Group has expanded its 
operations. As at 31 March 2020 the results of these companies were not material to the results of the Group.  
 
 
The entities over which control was gained are as follows: 
 

Name Date of 

acquisition 

Parent entity % Country of 

incorporation 

and business 

Pay Asia Pte Ltd 29 May 2018 PayGroup Ltd 100% Singapore 

PayMY Outsoutcing Sdn Bhd 29 May 2018 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Malaysia 

Pay Asia Australia Ltd 29 May 2018 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Australia 

Pay Asia Ltd 29 May 2018 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Hong Kong 

Pay Asia HR Services Limited, Inc 29 May 2018 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Phillipines 

Pay Asia Management Pvt Ltd 28 Feb 2019 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% India 

Pay Asia (Thailand) Limited 10 Sep 2018 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Thailand 

Payasia Company Limited 20 Nov 2018 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Myanmar 

Pay Asia Vietnam Limited Liability 

Company 

23 Mar 2019 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Vietnam 

PT Payasia Konsultansi Indonesia 1 Mar 2019 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% Indonesia 

Payasia BPO Payroll India Private 

Limited 

15 Nov 2018 Pay Asia Pte Ltd 100% India 

Astute One Limited 1 Nov 2019 PayGroup Ltd 100% Australia 

Astute International Pty Ltd 1 Nov 2019 PayGroup Ltd 100% Australia 

Astute Corporation Pty Ltd 1 Nov 2019 PayGroup Ltd 100% Australia 

Managed Payroll Solutions Pty Ltd 1 Nov 2019 PayGroup Ltd 100% Australia 

 

Employee share Plan 

Employees of Pay Asia Pte Ltd and its subsidiaries were offered shares as part of the employee share plan.  
The employee benefits expense of this plan has been recognised in the financial statements of these entities 
over the period in which the shares vested.  

 

(i) Key management personnel remuneration Consolidated 

 2020  2019 

 $  $ 

Short-term salary / fees 1,153,854  962,685 

Post-employment benefits 17,545  14,864 

Share based payments -  8,333 

 1,171,399  985,882 
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Note 16. Related party transactions (continued) 

 

(ii) Rental 

Pay Asia Australia Pty Ltd rents business premise via a third party agent.  These premises are co-

owned by Michele Samantha Samlal. On 13 May 2019, Mark Samlal acquired the 50% originally 

owned by the independent third party. Rent and the lease agreement are set and maintained by the 

third party agent and is set at terms representing normal commercial terms and conditions and at 

market rates, with net rent at $3,542 per month (2019: $3,542). This lease ended in November 2019. 

 

(iii) Deposits / loans to related parties 

Prior to the acquisition of Pay Asia Pte Ltd, the directors of Pay Asia Pte Ltd divested their 
investment in Pay Asia Management Private Limited (”PAM”).  The company was sold on 31 March 
2018 to Employee Group Pte Ltd (“EG”), an entity that is owned by the Founding Shareholders of 
Pay Asia Pte Ltd – who by virtue of the share swap / acquisition undertaken on 29 May 2018 
became shareholders of PYG.  Mark Samlal is a Director of EG. 

 

At the time of the divestment of PAM, it was acknowledged that PayGroup would be acquiring the 
underlying payroll business that operated within PAM.  Due to regulatory challenges in establishing 
the appropriate operating vehicle and appropriate ownership structure within India, the acquisition of 
the payroll business was delayed. 

 

The sale / purchase transaction undertaken as at 31 March 2018 resulted in EG taking over an inter-
company liability owing to PAM, the settlement of which would be undertaken via the proceeds to be 
received from PYG for the sale of the PAM payroll business.  Due to delays in PYG establishing the 
India structure, PYG, via its subsidiary Pay Asia Pte Ltd, paid a deposit of $509,099 to EG as 
consideration for the acquisition of the payroll business. 

 

The value of the deposit was supported by an independent valuation of PAM’s payroll business as 
reflected as at 31 March 2018. 

 

In addition to the deposit paid, a loan of $126,449 was also provided to EG to support the underlying 
payroll.  At the time of providing the loan, PayGroup had commenced discussions to acquire PAM 
rather than the standalone payroll business.  This acquisition was completed 28 February 2019 with 
PAM becoming a 100% owned subsidiary of Pay Asia Pte Ltd.   On completion of the acquisition, the 
deposit paid and loan provided formed the consideration paid for the acquisition. 

 

(iv) PayMy Outsourcing Sdn Bhd 

Prior to the acquisition of Pay Asia Pte Ltd by PayGroup, Pay Asia Pte Ltd controlled the operation 
and profits of the Malaysian subsidiary, PayMy Outsourcing Sdn Bhd.  However due to regulatory 
constraints associated with transferring ownership of shares within Malaysia, the shareholders of 
PayMy Outsourcing Sdn Bhd are Mark Samlal and Michele Samantha Samlal.  The acquisition 
agreement has been signed confirming that control is held by Pay Asia Pte Ltd and that the share 
transfer will occur on completion of the relevant filings within Malaysia. These filings were slightly 
delayed due to Covid-19 and the management expects the transfer will be fully executed in second 
quarter of FY21.   

 

There were no transactions conducted between the Group and KMP or their related parties, apart from those 
disclosed above and those relating to equity compensation, that were conducted other than in accordance 
with normal employee, customer or supplier relationships on terms no more favourable than those reasonably 
expected under arm’s length dealings with unrelated persons. 
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Note 17. Remuneration of auditors    

 Consolidated 

 2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

Audit and review of the consolidated financial statements   

Auditors of PayGroup Limited - Grant Thornton Australia 138,500 59,500 

Auditors of subsidiaries - Overseas Grant Thornton network firms 72,030 67,500 

Auditors of subsidiaries – Others 42,764 19,688 

Remuneration from audit and review of consolidated financial statements 253,294 146,688 

   

 Consolidated 

 2020 2019 

 $ $ 

Other services   

Investigating Accountant’s Report - Grant Thornton Australia - 126,506 

Other subcontracted services - Overseas Grant Thornton network firms 172,151  46,561 

Total other services remuneration 172,151  173,067 

   

Total auditor's remuneration 425,445   319,755 

   

Note 18. Leases 
 

(a) Recognition and measurement 

The leases recognised by the Group under AASB 16 predominantly relate to property leases. The Group 

recognises all lease liabilities and corresponding right of use assets, with the exception of short-term (12 

months or less) and low value leases, on the balance sheet. Lease liabilities are recorded at the present 

value of fixed payments, variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, amounts payable under 

residual value guarantees and extension options expected to be exercised. Where a lease contains an 

extension option which the Group can exercise without negotiation, lease payments for the extension 

period are included in the liability if the Group is reasonably certain that it will exercise the option. Variable 

lease payments not dependent on an index or rate are excluded from the liability. Lease payments are 

discounted at the incremental borrowing rate of the lessee, unless the rate implicit in the lease can be 

readily determined. The right of use asset at initial recognition reflects the lease liability adjusted for any 

lease payments made before the commencement date plus any make good obligations and initial direct 

costs incurred. 

Lease liabilities are remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments resulting from a change 

in an index or rate, or a change in the assessed lease term. A corresponding adjustment is made to the 

carrying amount of the right of use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount has been 

reduced to zero. 

The Group applied judgement to determine the incremental borrowing rates as well as the lease term for 

some lease contracts that include extension or termination options. The assessment of whether the Group 

is reasonably certain to exercise such options impacts the lease term, which significantly affects the 

amount of lease liabilities and right of use assets recognised.  

The Group recognises depreciation of the right of use assets and interest on the lease liabilities in the 

income statement over the lease term. Repayments of lease liabilities are separated into a principal portion 

(presented within financing activities) and interest portion (presented within operating activities) in the cash 

flow statement.  
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Note 18. Leases (continued) 

(b) Lease liabilities 

On adoption of AASB 16, the Group has recognised lease liabilities for leases previously classified as operating 

leases. On transition to AASB 16 the weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities 

recognised under AASB 16 was 6.14%. 

The Group’s commitments previously classified as non-cancellable operating leases predominately relate to 

office premises, ranging in lease terms from 1 to 5 years. The Group’s leases may have extension options to 

manage operational flexibility. These options are exercisable only by the Group and not the respective lessor. 

The lease agreements are negotiated individually and do not impose any covenants on the Group. In 

assessing the lease term for calculating the present value of the lease payments, options are only included in 

the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended. 

The Group has benefited from the use of hindsight for determining lease term when considering options to 

extend and terminate leases. Lease liabilities recognised in the Balance Sheet on 1 April 2019 reconcile back 

to operating lease commitments as disclosed at 30 June 2019 as follows: 

 

  $ 

Total operating lease commitments disclosed at 31 March 2019  562,393 

    Other minor adjustments relating to commitment disclosures  (74,879) 

Operating lease liabilities before discounting  487,514 

Reasonably certain extension options  582,981 

Discounted using incremental borrowing rate  (139,623) 

Operating lease liabilities  930,872 

   

Total lease liabilities recognised under AASB 16 at 1 April 2019  930,872 

 

The movement in lease liabilities from 1 April 2019 to the year ended 31 March 2020 is presented below: 

  $ 

Lease liability at 1 April 2020  930,872 

Additions  22,621 

Acquired as part of Astute acquisition 1 Nov 2019  1,084,045 

Interest expense  71,255 

Payments on lease liabilities     (388,014) 

Lease liability at 31 Mar 2020  1,720,779 

Lease liabilities – current  624,505 

Lease liabilities – non-current  1,096,274 

 

(c) Right-of-use assets 

 

The RoU assets have been measured at the initial lease liability amount, as if the AASB 16 had been applied 

from the commencement date of the leases. The recognised ROU assets relate to the following assets: 

  $ 

Right-of-use assets at 1 April 2019  930,872 

Additions  22,621 

Acquired as part of the Astute acquisition 1 Nov 2019  1,102,156 

Depreciation  (433,129) 

Right-of-use assets at 31 March 2020  1,622,520 
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Note 19. Reconciliation of cash flows 

 

(a) Reconciliation of cash flow from operating activities 

 Consolidated 

Cash flows from operating activities 2020 

$ 

 2019 

$ 

Loss after tax for the period (2,074,011)  (1,599,246) 

Adjustments for:    

- Depreciation and amortisation 1,402,276  279,151 

- Foreign exchange differences 78,714  66,009 

- Allowance for credit loss 75,982  - 

- Share based payments for settlement of liability 127,000  108,370 

- Gain from a bargain purchase -  (179,528) 

Net change in working capital    

- Change in trade and other receivables (1,704,765)  (1,334,669) 

- Change in prepayments 98,298  (36,546) 

- Increase in other assets 268,289  (363,975) 

- Increase in trade and other payables 1,992,236  (1,789,134) 

- Change in deferred tax 162,750  (6,001) 

- Change in provisions (566,627)  52,587  

Net cash used in operating activities (139,858)  (4,802,982) 
 

(b) Non-cash investing and financing activities    

 Consolidated 

 2020 

$ 

 2019 

$ 

Shares issued pursuant to Astute acquisition 9,190,588  - 

Shares issued as settlement of liability 127,000  - 
 

(c) Bank facilities 

         The group has an unutilized overdraft facility of $285,000 from DBS Bank of Singapore. 

 
 

Note 20. Parent Entity information 

Information relating to PayGroup Limited (the Parent Entity): 

 2020  2019 

Statement of financial position $  $ 

Current assets 6,661,456  5,633,604 

Non-current assets 25,467,595  16,127,007 

Total assets 32,129,051  21,760,611 

Current liabilities 436,401  386,792 

Non-Current liabilities -  - 

Total liabilities 436,401  386,792 

Issued capital 36,213,927  24,076,417 

Share based payment reserve 216,904  216,904 

Accumulated loss (4,738,181)  (2,919,501) 

Total equity 31,692,650  21,373,820 

Loss for the year 2,443,681  1,172,170 
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Note 20. Parent Entity information (continued) 

 

Contingent liabilities of the parent entity 

The parent entity did not have any contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2020 or 2019. 

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity 

The parent entity did not have any guarantees as at 31 March 2020 or 2019. 

 

Note 21. Events occurring after the reporting period 

 

There have been no other matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial period, that 

have significantly affected, or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those 

operations or the state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years. 

Covid-19 update: 

PayGroup is well equipped to execute its business continuity planning (“BCP”) policy for Covid-19.  

Investments in technology pre-Covid-19 has allowed the group to execute BCP with its workforce across all 

business segments working from home without material impact to its service delivery to clients or loss of 

productivity.  

The group is closely monitoring the global economic impact of Covid-19 and across its geographical business 

segments and client base.  To date, PayGroup financials is largely unimpacted by Covid-19 and has not seen 

reported revenue substantially decline to date.  From the date of this reporting, the group is unaware of any 

factors suggesting a substantial impact to its top line revenue or operational cost base due to Covid-19.   

Notwithstanding this, PayGroup has identified significant cost saving opportunities across its segments and is 

therefore, well positioned for any unforeseen adverse impacts from Covid-19. 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 

 

In the opinion of the Directors’ of PayGroup Limited 

a) the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 14 to 60, are in accordance with the 

Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 (i) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2020 and of its 

performance for the period ended on that date; and 

 (ii) complying with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other 

mandatory professional reporting requirements; and 

 (iii) as stated in note 2, the financial statements also comply with International Financial 

Reporting Standards 

b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when 

they become due and payable; and 

  

  

The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 

from the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer for the financial year ended 31 March 2020. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors’ made pursuant to section 295(5) of the 

Corporations Act 2001. 

On behalf of the Directors, 

 

 

 

 

 

Ian Basser 

Chairman 

Melbourne, 26 June 2020 
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION FOR LISTED PUBLIC COMPANIES 

The following additional information is required by the Australian Stock Exchange Ltd in respect of listed public 
companies only.  The following information is current as at 30 June 2019. 

 

1) Shareholding 

a) Distribution of shareholders 

Range Total holders Units % of issued capital 

1 – 1,000 44 24,508 0.04 

1,001 – 5,000 142 442,672 0.64 

5,001 – 10,000 65 495,377 0.72 

10,001 – 100,000 129 4,879,550 7.08 

100,001 and over 42 63,051,903 91.52 

Rounding   0.00 

Total 422 68,894,010 100.00 

    

b) The number of shareholdings held in less than marketable parcels is 18. 

 

c) Substantial Shareholders 

Shareholder 

Number of Ordinary 

Shares Fully Paid 

Shares Held 

% Held of Issued 

Ordinary Capital 

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Pty Limited 1 26,505,958 38.47 

Lawrence Pushpam 7,051,953 10.24 

A.C.N. 636 453 864 Pty Ltd 2 4,270,588 6.20 

Market Effect Pty Ltd <MKOB Family A/C> 4,264,352 6.19 

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 4,257,617 6.18 

1)  Mark Samlal holds a relevant interest in these shares 

 

d) Voting Rights 

The voting rights attached to each class of equity security are as follows: 

Ordinary shares 

Each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each member present at a meeting or 
by proxy has one vote on a show of hands. 
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e) 20 Largest Shareholders – Ordinary Shares 

 Shareholder 

Number of Ordinary 

Fully Paid Shares 

Held 

% Held of Issued 

Ordinary Capital 

1 J P Morgan Nominees Australia Pty Limited 26,505,958 38.47 

2 Lawrence Pushpam 7,051,953 10.24 

3 A.C.N. 636 453 864 Pty Ltd 4,270,588 6.20 

4 Market Effect Pty Ltd <MKOB Family A/C> 4,264,352 6.19 

5 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 4,257,617 6.18 

6 National Nominees Limited 2,465,425 3.58 

7 Kazacos Investments Pty Ltd 1,702,786 2.47 

8 Simon Forrester <Simon & Sally S/F A/C> 1,593,634 2.31 

9 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 1,544,910 2.24 

10 Franck Neron-Bancel 947,296 1.38 

11 Destin Pty Ltd 794,634 1.15 

12 Mrs Vicky Kazacos + Mr Peter Kazacos 709,494 1.03 

13 Riddler Investments Pty Ltd 700,000 1.02 

14 Nancy Chandler Koglmeier 693,635 1.01 

15 Ian Basser 501,302 0.73 

16 Asia Pac Technology Pty Ltd  400,000 0.58 

17 Kimon Pty Ltd 321,582 0.47 

18 Mr John Charles Plummer 300,000 0.44 

19 Sachin Goklaney 257,218 0.37 

20 Christopher Julian Brunton 257,217 0.37 

Total Top 20 holders of ordinary fully paid shares 59,539,601 86.42 

Total remaining holders balance 9,354,409 13.58 

 

2) Number and class of restricted securities and securities subject to voluntary escrow 

Description Number on Issue 

Ordinary shares escrowed until 14 November 2020 4,270,588 

Ordinary shares escrowed until 14 November 2021 8,494,118 

Total 12,764,706 
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3) Unquoted Securities 

There are no unquoted securities. 

 

4) Use of cash 

Since the date of listing on the ASX to the end of the reporting period PayGroup used its cash and assets readily 

convertible into cash in a way consistent with its business objectives. 
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Corporate Directory 

 

Directors 

Ian Basser  -Non-Executive Chairman 

David Fagan – Non-Executive Director 

Mark Samlal – Managing Director 

Franck Neron-Bancel – Executive Director 

Share Registry 

Computershare Investor services Pty Limited 

Yarra Falls 

452 Johnson Street 

Abbotsford Victoria 3067 Australia 

  

Company Secretary 

Oliver Carton 

Email: Investor@payasia.asia 

Auditor 

Grant Thornton 

Collins Square Level 22 Tower 5, 

727 Collins Street 

Melbourne Victoria 3008 

  

Company’s Registered Office 

Level 1 325 Flinders Lane 

Melbourne Victoria 3000 Australia 

Australian Legal Adviser 

K&L Gates 

Level 25 

525 Collins Street 

Melbourne Victoria 3000 Australia  

  

PayGroup’s Global Headquarters 

#14-00,1 Phillip Street 

Singapore 048692 

Stock Exchange Listing 

PayGroup Limited is listed on the Australian 
Stock Exchange (ASX Code:PYG) 

  

www.paygrouplimited.com 
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